
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 13 February, 2015

10.00 am

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 13 February, 2015, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership (13)

Conservative (5): Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs P T Cole, 
Mr G Lymer and Mrs J Whittle

UKIP (2): Mr B Neaves and Mrs Z Wiltshire

Labour (1): Mr R Truelove

Liberal Democrat (1): Mr M J Vye

Co-opted Members 
(4):

Mrs T Carpenter, Mr S Griffiths, Ms C Moody and Ms B Taylor 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

Item 
No
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

A.  PANEL BUSINESS
A1 Membership 

To report that Bella Taylor has joined the Panel in place of Sophia Dunstan. 

A2 Apologies and Substitutes 

A3 Minutes of the meeting held on 9 December 2014 (Pages 5 - 12)



A4 Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 4 
December 2015 (Pages 13 - 18)

A5 Chairman's Announcements 

A6 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council 

A7 Cabinet Member's Verbal Update (Pages 19 - 20)

B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
B1 Care Leavers Support Policy (Pages 21 - 56)

B2 Leading Improvements for Looked After Children (LILAC) Assessment (Pages 
57 - 84)

B3 Update on the Integrated Children in Care and Care Leavers Service (Pages 85 
- 88)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
03000 416647

Thursday, 5 February 2015

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 9 December 2014.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs T Carpenter, 
Mrs P T Cole, Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, Mr B Neaves, Mr M J Vye and 
Mrs Z Wiltshire

ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford and Ms B Taylor

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr P Segurola (Interim Director of Specialist Children's Services), 
Mrs S Skinner (Service Business Manager, Virtual School Kent) and 
Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

49. Apologies and Substitutes 

No apologies or notice of any substitutes had been received. 

50. Minutes of the Panel meeting held on 24 October 2014 
(Item A2)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel’s meeting held on 24 October 2014 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.  There were no matters 
arising. 

51. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item A3)

1. The Chairman announced that Bella Taylor would replace Sophia Dunstan as 
the OCYPC representative on the Panel, while Sophia was on maternity leave.  She 
welcomed Bella to the Panel.

2. She added that she had recently met the new VSK apprentices and said they 
would be a great asset to the VSK programme.

52. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item A4)

1. Ms Taylor introduced herself to the Panel and gave a verbal update on the 
following issues:-

a) she explained that the number of VSK apprentices had doubled, from four 
to eight, and introduced two of the new VSK apprentices, who had come to 
observe the Panel meeting. The increased number would allow there to be 
two apprentices in each locality and would increase the level of support 
and engagement possible;

Page 5

Agenda Item A3



b) a taster day for the OCYPC had been successful, with new members 
joining. OCYPC would like to find a representative of unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children (UASC) in the coming year. There had been two 
residential courses during 2014, to help initiate team building.  There had 
been a Christmas card design competition, with the intention that the 
winning design would be printed as the official OCYPC card.  The 
Christmas edition of the newsletter would be issued shortly, and an 
ongoing aim was for this newsletter to reach younger children in care; and

c) participation days had been successful this year, with some 300 children 
and young people attending, but the aim was always to try to engage with 
hard-to-reach children and young people and encourage them to take part.  

2. She responded to comments and questions, follows:-

a) concern was expressed that some asylum seeking young men may have 
trouble working with and relating to female staff, as attitudes to women in 
their home countries were quite different from attitudes prevalent in the UK.  
Ms Taylor said she had a keen interest in UASC issues and had taken 
account of the difference in attitudes but did not foresee it causing any 
problem. Mr Lymer offered the benefit of his experience of working with 
ethnic minorities to help with any  support and advice with addressing any 
problems which may arise; 

b) in response to a question about how foster carers received the OCYPC 
newsletter, Ms Moody and Mrs Carpenter confirmed that they received the 
newsletter online and shared it with the children in their care; 

c) in response to a question, Mrs Skinner said that every effort would be 
made to help VSK apprentices to take up  invitations to attend various 
events around the county, eg Youth Advisory Groups, but pointed out that 
apprentices had to rely on public transport.  She asked that anyone 
seeking a visit by an apprentice contact her so arrangements could be 
made; 

d) Panel members offered help to distribute copies of OCYPC/VSK 
newsletters in their local areas, and it was agreed that each newsletter, 
when ready, would be emailed to the Democratic Services Officer for 
circulation to all Panel members; 

e) in response to a question, Panel members were advised that dates for 
participation days for the whole of 2015 were not yet set, but they would be 
posted on the website as soon as they were known. Events for the 
February half-term holiday had been set, and Easter events would be 
arranged shortly.  The Panel was reminded that such events would always 
be scheduled to take place in the school holidays; and

f) Panel members had heard often that young people did not welcome being 
asked to complete surveys, and that different ways needed to be found of 
gathering their views. Ms Taylor advised that the challenge had been given 
some thought and possible solutions would be discussed at the next 

Page 6



residential event and OCYPC meeting. Mr Segurola added that officers 
were looking into how best to gather feedback from children and young 
people in care, to achieve the most helpful method for them and to be able 
to evidence this relationship. 

3. The Cabinet Member, Mr Oakford, said he had written to the Children’s 
Commissioner about the challenge of finding an alternative to surveys and had 
received a favourable reply, asking for more detail.  He said he would pursue the 
issue with the aim of achieving, by May 2015, a co-ordinated national annual survey 
which covered all the required information.  He undertook to copy his email exchange 
with the Commissioner to Mrs Skinner and Ms Taylor. 

4. The Chairman offered to write a Christmas message to all children in care, for 
inclusion in the Christmas edition of the OCYPC/VSK newsletter.  

5. RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted, with thanks.  

53. Cabinet Member's Verbal Update 
(Item A5)

1. Mr P J Oakford gave a verbal update on the following issues:-

Child Sexual Exploitation awareness session for Members of this Panel and the 
Children’s Social Care and Health Cabinet Committee on 18 December, by Tim 
Smith of Kent Police – all Members of both committees had been invited to attend 
and it was hoped that a good attendance would be achieved.  
Visits with principal practitioner to Folkestone had been very enlightening. He 
would shortly start a series of visits to all children’s centres in the county, in alternate 
weeks with visits with social workers.
Kent Safeguarding Children Board Annual Conference on 13 November – 
‘Voice of the Child’ – this had been a very successful event. 
E.safety – he had recently seen Becky Avery’s excellent presentation on e.safety 
and the effects of cyber-bullying and recommended it to the Panel. He undertook to 
arrange for the Corporate Parenting Panel and the Children’s Social Care and Health 
Cabinet Committee to be shown Becky’s presentation in January, at an awareness 
raising event similar to the one about Child Sexual Exploitation.
8 December meeting with Graham Archer at the Department of Education with 
Philip Segurola, Paul Carter and Andrew Ireland about how Kent managed issues 
relating to Child Sexual Exploitation.  
CAMHS contract renewal – the clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) had 
extended its contract for CAMHS without discussion with the County Council. 
Specialist Children’s Services and procurement officers would look into the impact of 
this upon the Council.

2. He responded to comments and questions, as follows:-

a)  the CAMHS contract extension had been reported to the Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, so should not have come as a surprise, although, as the 
existing contract would expire in August 2015, there was surely time to have 
consulted more widely, so the lack of consultation was disappointing. Mr 
Segurola added that consultation with the County Council should have been 
routed through the Health and Wellbeing Board. He reminded the Panel that 

Page 7



the County Council had an interest in the contract in terms of its provision for 
children in care; and

b) in response to a question about the possibility of young people attending the 
CSE briefing on 18 December, to broaden their awareness of the issue, Mr 
Segurola said the intended audience was elected Members and the content 
would address their need to be aware of the issues as corporate parents. 

3. The verbal updates were noted, with thanks.
 

54. Meeting Dates 2015 - amended start times 
(Item A6)

The Panel’s 2015 meeting dates had been reported to the Panel on 24 October, but 
the start times of the afternoon sessions had since been brought forward. The dates 
reserved for the Panel’s meetings in 2015, and their revised start times, were noted, 
as follows:-

Friday 13 February, 10.00 am 
Thursday 9 April, new start time 1.00 pm
Thursday 18 June, new start time 1.00 pm
Thursday 3 September, new start time 1.00 pm
Friday 23 October, 10.00 am
Tuesday 8 December, new start time 1.00 pm

All meetings would take place at County Hall, Maidstone.

55. The Share Foundation and Junior ISAs for Children in Care 
(Item B1)

1. Mrs Skinner introduced the report and explained that setting up a Junior ISA 
for every child in care, with an initial investment of £200 per child, had replaced the 
previous arrangements for each to have a Child Trust Fund. Children who were in 
care at the time of the Child Trust Fund would retain this fund, while children coming 
into care since then would have a new ISA. The Government introduced this support 
for children and young people who had been in care for a period of at least one year, 
so any child in care for twelve months or more should have some type of investment 
fund. When a child came into care, the County Council would inform the Share 
Foundation, which would establish a new ISA for them, and when a young person 
came to leave care, the Share Foundation would arrange for the funds accrued to be 
paid to the young person. The Kent Pledge payment, made by the County Council to 
every child in care, would be added to the Child Trust Fund or ISA fund. The purpose 
of telling the Panel about this scheme was to seek its help in raising extra funding for 
children in care. If agreement were forthcoming, a representative of the Share 
Foundation could attend a future Panel meeting to help take forward plans for 
fundraising.  Mrs Skinner responded to comments and questions from Panel 
members, as follows:-

b) the possibility of involving all elected Members was raised, perhaps by 
arranging a presentation and debate at a full Council meeting in the new 
year.  This would reinforce Members’ shared role as corporate parents and 

Page 8



allow all to input ideas about fundraising. If all elected Members were to be 
informed and involved, each could help by approaching business 
communities and fundraising organisations in their local area;        

c) foster carers were able to add their own contributions to the ISA funds for 
children in their care, as was the child’s birth family, in the same way in 
which parents and grandparents would put away funds for their own 
children’s and grandchildren’s future;   

d) Panel members asked Ms Taylor if she was aware of the fund held in her 
name and her entitlement to access it upon leaving care. The Chairman 
added that young people in care were very astute about money issues and 
were sure to tell the County Council if the system did not work and if they 
were not able to access their funds! 

e) it was suggested that the knowledge available to the County Council via 
the officers who managed the Council’s pension funds could be used to 
benefit the investment of ISA funds. Several elected Members had 
previously worked in banking and had excellent knowledge of investment; 

f) when a young person had their funds paid out to them upon leaving care, 
they could be given advice and encouragement to continue saving for their 
future; 

g) rather than approaching local businesses to help with fundraising, as many 
were still struggling after the economic downturn, it might be better to 
approach banks.  This would give them a chance to ‘give something back’.  
In addition, people with shares with a low value had an option to donate 
them to a good cause, which may be more cost-effective than cashing 
them in, and the County Council could establish a scheme to encourage 
people to donate these shares to benefit local children in care;

h) another group of young people which could benefit from having an ISA was 
child carers; 

i) some of the cohort of 141 young people who were eligible to receive a 
payment of funds upon leaving care, but who had not yet done so, were 
those who had left care before the current scheme was established and 
were eligible for a retrospective payment. Some had changed addresses 
since leaving care and would need to be traced to a current address. Mrs 
Skinner reassured Panel members that she would obtain a list of names of 
the 141 and assist in tracing them; and

j) young people should be involved in decisions, and asked for their 
suggestions, about how money was to be raised and invested for them, as 
it was, after all, money which was rightfully theirs.

2. RESOLVED that:-

a) the information about sources of savings accounts held on behalf of Kent 
children in care be noted; and

Page 9



b) the County Council work with the Share Foundation to encourage 
additional fundraising through local businesses and other bodies, taking 
account of the Panel’s comments and suggestions, set out above.

56. Therapy and Counselling services for Children and Young People with 
Emotional Wellbeing needs (including mental health) 
(Item B2)

Mrs C Infanti, Strategic Commissioning Officer, was in attendance for this item.

1. Mrs Infanti introduced the report and summarised its key points. A draft 
emotional wellbeing strategy had been debated by the Children’s Social Care and 
Health Cabinet Committee on 3 December and the delivery plan for this was 
expected to be ready in February 2015. Mrs Infanti and Mr Segurola responded to 
comments and questions from Panel members, as follows:-

a) the figures for current cases in each area, listed in the report, were 
grouped by clinical commissioning group (CCG) district, and Mrs Infanti 
undertook to advise the speaker outside the meeting of the figures, 
separated instead into district council areas; 

b) it was noted that that the total number of cases listed – 464 – represented 
25% of Kent’s current children in care population.

c) when a child came into care, they would have a health assessment to 
identify the type of support they needed.  There was currently some 
fragmentation across the tiers of provision but the new emotional health 
and wellbeing strategy ‘The Way Ahead’ sought to improve the 
assessment process.  A foster carer commented that access to emotional 
health and wellbeing services could be a lottery as some new social 
workers were unsure about the process, and by the time services could be 
found, the child had sometimes moved on to a new foster carer, who would 
have to start the process again from scratch.  Mr Segurola explained that 
training on emotional health and wellbeing services would be built into the 
induction package for all new social workers; 

d) one speaker added that he had experienced delay in accessing the 
common assessment framework (CAF) process and said the Panel should 
monitor this issue closely, as well as access to lower tier services.  It was 
important to identify also how such monitoring information would be 
acquired and how progress would be measured; 

e) the same speaker asked for a list of all commissioned services and who 
delivered them, and Mrs Infanti undertook to supply this; 

f) a care package put in place when a child entered care would not 
automatically include any emotional health and wellbeing service; 

g)  concern was expressed that there were insufficient hospital beds available 
for young people in emotional crisis; some young people had to be kept in 
police cells as that was the only available alternative; and

Page 10



h)  the Panel asked to receive a further report on emotional health and 
wellbeing services early in 2015, so it could see and monitor a co-ordinated 
approach to the related services.  

2. RESOLVED that:-

a) the information set out in the report be noted; and

b) the further information requested about services and monitoring 
mechanisms, as noted above, be provided to Panel members, as 
requested.

57. Update on the Adoption Service 

Ms Y Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service and Improvement, Coram/KCC

1. Ms Shah introduced reports on the adopters’ journey, children’s adoption 
journey and by adoption panel chairs, and summarised the key points of them, as 
follows:-

a) as the number of children awaiting adoption had decreased by some 60% 
nationwide, events aimed at recruiting new adopters had been scaled back 
and would be held less often, to slow down the rate of recruitment of 
mainstream adopters;

b) a new service, recently launched, would allow adopters, once approved, to 
access a national database of children awaiting adoption; 

c) the British Association of Adoption and Fostering would shortly launch a 
scheme for adopters to make DVDs to promote themselves to children 
seeking adoption, in the same way in which children could currently make 
promotional DVDs to attract adopters;

d) the timescale within which children were placed had improved, with 70% of 
children now being placed within the desired timetable;

e) Kent’s family finding service had received recognition at a national level; 
and

f) Ofsted had highlighted the need to increase the number of elected 
Members serving on adoption panels.
 

2. She then responded to comments and questions from Panel Members, as 
follows:-

a) asked about recruitment of adopters for harder-to-place children, eg sets of 
siblings and those with disabilities or behavioural problems,  Ms Shah 
explained that a recent radio campaign had been unsuccessful, and that 
some adopters who had come forward for such children and had been 
approved then changed their minds about continuing. Some may have 
been put off by being given case examples of the medical problems 
experienced by some children. She emphasised that additional support 

Page 11



would be put in place for adopters of disabled children, and that a new 
recruitment campaign would be mounted early in 2015, aimed at recruiting 
adopters for siblings and disabled children.  Mr Segurola added that 
additional support was vital to avoid a breakdown of a placement; 

b) a report setting out more detail of post-adoption support would be made to 
the Panel in the new year; 

c) adopters had previously been able to see profiles of children waiting 
adoption, but it was planned that children would shortly be able to see 
profiles of adopters; and

d) the Chairman, who had served on adoption panels in the past, commented 
that finding Members to serve on such panels was a challenge, on top of 
other committee memberships and County Council duties, as the workload 
of preparation, reading and travel was onerous. Lay people determining 
adoption cases would need support to understand some of the issues 
involved, as the confidential nature of the material meant they could not 
discuss them with, or seek clarification from, any unauthorised third party.

3. The Chairman thanked Ms Shah and the Coram team for the tremendous 
amount of work they had done in improving the County’s adoption service.  Ms Shah 
replied that the biggest contribution to this improvement had been made by the foster 
carers who supported the placement and adoption process.

4. RESOLVED that the information set out in the reports be noted, and the 
Panel’s thanks to the Coram team and the county’s foster carers for their work 
in improving Kent’s adoption service be placed on record.
 

Page 12



Kent Corporate Parenting Group
Minutes of the meeting held on 4 December 2014

Billiard Room, Oakwood House

Present:
Philip Segurola – Interim Director, Specialist 
Children’s Services

Anne Nerva – Children and Young People’s 
Service Manager, East Kent

Martin Vye – Elected Member for Canterbury Maureen Robinson – Service Manager, MIU
Andy Heather – Principal Educational 
Psychologist

Dr Noreen Ahmad-Bhatti – East Kent Hospitals 
University Trust

Tony Doran – Head Teacher, Virtual School 
Kent

Joanne Rabbitte – Children and Young Person’s 
Service Manager, West Kent

Sarah Skinner – Service Business Manager, 
Virtual School Kent

Sarah Whittaker – Children and Young People’s 
Service Manager, North Kent

Lee-Anne Farach – Head of Performance 
Improvement and Quality Assessment

June Capuano – Kent Community Health NHS 
Trust

Simon Bounds -  Skills and Employability Nancy Sayer - NHS
Nick Wilkinson – Youth Offending Service Lead 
Manager

Alicia Moncrieffe - NHS

Sean Kearns – CEO,CXK Carole Cruickshank (Minutes)
Ann Furminger – Service Delivery Director, CXK
Sue Clifton – Operations Manager Catch 22/16+ 
& UASC

Apologies: 

Ian Davies – Interim Senior Associate, 
Vulnerable Children, KMCS

Sue Dunn  - Head of Skills and Employability
(Simon Bounds replaced)

Paul Brightwell – Integrated Family Service 
Manager, East Kent
Rebecca Ransley – Interim Children and Young 
Person’s Service Manager, South Kent

Item 
No

General Overview of discussion, followed by decisions and actions in bold Actions

1. Welcome and Introductions

 Philip Segurola welcomed everyone to the meeting, introductions were 
made and apologies were noted.  

2. Minutes and Matters Arising 
 Page 2 – Corporate Parenting Lanyards – Complete, as stated at the end of 

the Corporate Parenting Panel

 Kent CiC and the Youth Justice System – Tony confirmed that Kent Police 
has great involvement with this.

 Page 2 carried over from May – Kent Pledge and Care Leavers Charter 

Page 13

Agenda Item A4



Leaflets – The Kent Pledge and Care Leavers Charter leaflets have been 
finalised.  Action – Paul Brightwell will check with Sean Kearns 
regarding his action to provide a paragraph for inclusion  

 Page 2 - Corporate Parenting Framework - Surrey Children in Care Council 
use a system of challenge cards to their Corporate Parenting Group 
regarding any issues that they are concerned about. Paul gave a verbal 
update. Action – Philip Segurola asked Paul Brightwell to prepare a 
small paper for the next meeting.

 Page 3 – Maureen Robinson to look at profiling breakdowns and planned 
moves and bring back to this group – Maureen confirmed that the National 
Data is not published until later in December. Action – the final piece will 
be circulated in January 2015 by Maureen Robinson

 Page 4 – Andy Heather confirmed that the Behavioural, Emotional and 
Social Difficulty Strand has been renamed to Social, Emotional and Mental 
Health Difficulties – all to note

 Page 4 – IRO’s use the same standards towards grading as are used by 
Ofsted.  Action – Paul Brightwell to circulate the grading guidance with 
these minutes

 Page 4 –Reunification planning is to be introduced and Health and 
Education partners will play a key role in this.  Tina Onuchukwu has 
identified some cases where children can go back home.  It was requested 
that this list be circulated to the Service Managers.  Action – Margaret Pike 
to check the status of the Children Returning Home Survey and 
circulate the list of names (checked with Margaret after the meeting, 
Complete.)

 Page 4 – Research has shown that 0-4 permanence has an impact on the 
children aged 5-9.  Action – Maureen Robinson to amend the indicators to 
show the 5-9 age group – The one line affected has been amended and the 
report reformatted however that data is not available until January. Action. 
Maureen Robinson to circulate in January 2015.

PB

PB

MR

PB

MP

MR

3. Care to Listen DVD

 DVD was played and Sarah Skinner gave a brief update as this DVD is a 
follow up to the one made in 2008. Some of the responses from the earlier 
DVD were repeated in this one. In view of this Paul Brightwell asked Sarah 
to distribute copies of the previous version (2008) so that people can 
compare the two. Action – Members to contact Sarah Skinner to request 
copies if required. These are to be sent as protected hard copies. 
Action – Sarah please note that Sean Kearns has requested 2 copies

 Long discussion had around one of the outstanding issues; the regular 
change of social workers. The managers confirmed that they wanted staff to 
maintain relationships however it’s not always possible due to some cases 
needing more experienced workers or due to the use of agency staff, which 
is reducing. It was suggested that whenever changes in workers are made 
the question ‘Is the change in the Young Person’s interest?’ should be 

All

SS

Page 14



asked. 

 It was noted that 3 of the CIC from the 2008 DVD are now working in Social 
care, wanting to give something back; one is studying at university to 
become a social worker, which shows that ‘something right was done.’

4. IRO “You Said, We Did” and Your Voice Survey Responses

 Several issues arose regarding these surveys
1)Surveys

a) Young People felt that they have to complete too many surveys; so 
will look to change the format/method of collecting the required 
information.

2) Contact
a) A new way for the IRO to contact Young People is being used; 

called Liquid Drop and allows text to email and email to text access. 
It’s fast, clear and provides a record for both Young Person and 
IRO.

3) Care Plans
a) It was generally felt by the young people that they don’t get to see 

their Care Plans. The opinion in the meeting was that the 
terminology used wouldn’t necessarily lead the young people to 
understand that it’s their ‘Care plan’ they are discussing, it would 
usually be referred to as ‘What we do for you’ as it is felt that the 
Care plan itself is not very  child friendly. Paul Brightwell confirmed 
that he has rarely seen any contact records showing that the worker 
has discussed the plan with the child. 

b) Sue Clifton said that although some authorities have very good 
Pathway Plans, ours isn’t especially as it has to be a working 
document for the young person. It’s not easy for them to 
understand. However Sue confirmed there have been many 
meetings over the last year, with the Liberi Group trying to improve 
it. Action – Sue Clifton to update KCPG on progress on revised 
Pathway Plan 

c) Many external professionals who contribute to this plan write in a 
‘too technical language’ which many CiC/ carers and even social 
workers struggle to understand. It was also felt that it is too time 
consuming to transfer all the Care Plans over to a friendlier format 
manually but that they should be able to be printed direct from Liberi 
in a good format. It was noted that we do have Health and 
Education incorporated in the plan, which is good. 

4) Social Worker Changes
a) As in the DVD feedback was that social workers change too often. A 

question was asked if we monitor/measure the turnover rate of 
Social Workers for children.  Action – Maureen Robinson to 
investigate and see how best to monitor this and bring back to 
the meeting. 

SC

MR

Page 15



b) It was pointed out that managers need to understand and minimise 
the impact of changing workers for each case, it was felt that they 
do try and take this into consideration. Nick Wilkinson noted that a 
good example of listening and acting upon it was when Sussex 
Police received feedback that too many young people were being 
arrested and were able to change processes which in turn reduced 
the arrest rate for young people. 

c) Andy Heather felt we needed performance indicators regarding the 
changing of Social Workers as if we do not actively aim to reduce 
the turnover/perceived turnover then we can’t evidence that we are 
listening to the young people who are completing the survey. 

5. Ofsted CSE Thematic Inspection Programme 

 Philip Segurola gave a brief update on the CSE Thematic Inspection that 
Kent was chosen to be part of in October. No report specific to Kent 
however a report has been publish covering the findings from all 8 LA’s 
involved. 

 Feedback was that our files tracked that intervention had improved the 
situation, whilst Lakeland was deemed very good. However this can’t be 
publicised due to pending court cases. Philip Segurola suggested that 
members have sight of report - below

 http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/resources/sexual-exploitation-of-children-it-
couldnt-happen-here-could-it  

 Paul Brightwell commented that some areas are having problems getting 
the police on board regarding CSE cases. It was noted that there is no 
Police representation at KCPG. Action – Lee Ann Farach to explore 
getting Police presence at KCPG.

 Nick Wilkinson confirmed that the gangs in Thanet are being investigated by 
various police forces. A peer review is to be conducted within the Police. 
Gang related issues involve:

a) Children from other Authorities being put into care here
b) Families moving into the area
c) Gangs moving into locations in Kent such as Canterbury, 

Folkestone, Dover, Gravesend and Gillingham.

LAF

6. Leaving Care Offer 
 Circulated with agenda as a draft, it is to be signed off at Committee on 

January 20. 

 Philip Segurola gave a brief explanation around the leaving care process 
and the new options available to stay in placement post 18 to ensure CiC 
are not moved into independence too early. 

 KCC have been given a grant towards costs for this financial year; however 
this is just a fraction of the percentage of the total costs involved. There are 
also capacity issues as Foster carers are not being freed up to accept new 
children as early. 

Page 16

http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/resources/sexual-exploitation-of-children-it-couldnt-happen-here-could-it
http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/resources/sexual-exploitation-of-children-it-couldnt-happen-here-could-it


 Young people can as come back to the council until the age of 25 to apply 
for funding/financial support for further education and training.

 Accommodation is a key issue for care leavers in Kent. The ‘setting up’ 
allowance has been increased as well as help with rent so that we are now 
in line with other LA’s. This is inclusive of Children with Disabilities who can 
now transfer across to adult services where appropriate

 Action – partner agency members to read and should you feel that 
some aspect of your service be included please discuss with Paul 
Brightwell. However if a service is added then there must be commitment 
to offered it to all care leavers. Sue Clifton felt that there is a need to 
improve help and use other agencies for ages 19-21 especially.

All partner 
agencies

7. VSK 16+ Remit 

 Tony Doran spoke of the £80k VSK have to support children aged 16+. The 
Assistant Head, Rachel Curver has been assigned to be responsible for the 
16+ children. 

 Nationally a CiC is more likely to go to Prison rather than to University so 
this is a good step towards rectifying that. 

 Schools and colleges won’t enrol year 12 / 13s who don’t have the relevant 
previous qualifications or who are unlikely to make the require grades. It is 
unusual for CiC to obtain the required grade C in English and Maths. CXK 
has a contract and will be offering this service to Kent children.

  CiC will have access to IYSS (Integrated Youth Support Service) this will 
help to allow tracking and safeguarding of children of these ages.

 The National Citizen Service will engage for all year 11s and support will be 
given to this age group especially over the summer transition as this is a 
crucial time in their educational future. 

8. Lilac Assessment Findings 

 Sarah Skinner gave an update on the LILAC review. Unfortunately this 
meant another survey for the CiC from the 3 assessors however this was 
unavoidable as they use different scoring to ours. ‘Leading Improvements 
for Looked After Children’ – LILAC covers 7 areas; the draft report shows 
we succeeded in 4 of them – giving us a Lilac score of 4. (see below, the 
ticks show the areas where we succeeded)

1) Shared Values                             √
2) Style of Leadership           
3) Structures
4) Staff
5) Recruitment and Selection          √
6) Care Planning and Review          √
7) Complaints and Advocacy           √

 The final report will be available within about 2 weeks. Action – Sarah SS

Page 17



Skinner to send out and bring to the next KCPG meeting to be 
discussed. 

9. AOB
 Martin Vye spoke about the Kent Corporate Parenting Panel and KCPG and 

his concerns about how disjointed these two related groups are, despite this 
multi-agency meeting. 

 Action – Philip Segurola suggested we add an agenda item for the next 
meeting to discuss alignment of issues between the Panel and this 
Group. Carole Cruickshank to add to next agenda

 Action – Philip Segurola asked that Partner agencies provide agenda 
items.

 Action – Sarah Skinner asked Public Health for a copy of the report 
compiled regarding health services for CIC.

CC

All partner 
agencies

Public 
Health

10. Date of Next Meeting 

 Monday 16 March 2015

Page 18



By: Mr P J Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 13 February 2015

Subject: Verbal Updates by the Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-
1. All Members Briefing feedback

2. Essex County Council meeting feedback

3. Children’s Operating Groups update

4. Visits to Children’s Centres in Sevenoaks

5. Attended the Kent Safeguarding Children Board Peer feedback review

Page 19

Agenda Item A7



This page is intentionally left blank



From Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director for Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel

Date: 13 February 2015

Subject: CARE LEAVERS SUPPORT POLICY

Classification: Unrestricted

Past Pathway: None

Future Pathway: None

Electoral Division: All

Summary: Provides information on the new Care Leavers Support Policy 
and makes recommendations for the policy to be unified for 
both indigenous and previously asylum seeking children. 

The Leaving Care policy is attached as appendix A

Recommendation: Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:

Note the content of this report

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 3 (2011), sets out 
the requirements on all Local Authorities to provide all eligible Care leavers 
with both personal advisor support and ongoing financial assistance. In May 
2013, the Government published further guidance for local authorities in 
regards to their arrangements for facilitating care leavers to “stay put” in their 
foster placements after they reach the age of 18 years. 

1.2 Care leavers support has previously been provided by two separate services, 
Catch 22 and the Service for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children.  The 
creation of a county wide Integrated 18+ Care Leavers Service on the 1st 
December 2104 now requires that the Council’s offer to care leavers is 
transparent and easily accessible to all.  

1.3 The 2011 and 2013 statutory guidance has been applied in different ways 
within the two old services. This difference has led to multiple challenges from 
care leavers and was not compliant with Statutory Guidance or the rating of a 
“Good” Ofsted judgement in this area of work. 

1.4 The council has not previously published any policy in regards to care 
leavers. This lack of a policy is both contrary to the requirements of statutory 

Page 21

Agenda Item B1



guidance and has led to a number of complaints from Coram Voice on behalf 
of care leavers in the recent past.

1.5 This policy document sets out the Council’s proposed Care Leaver Offer and 
addresses the eligibility criteria for access to an assessment for Care Leavers 
Services. 

2. New Policy.

2.1 The aim of providing Care Leavers support is to ensure that young people 
leaving care and preparing to leave care receive support and help to assist 
them in making a successful transition to adulthood. Ofsted’s single 
inspection framework, introduced in November 2013 also now includes a 
specific grade judgement on local authorities’ services to care leavers, and 
requires that the plans for young people leaving care are effective and 
address their individual needs. Local authorities are required to ensure that 
young people feel safe, particularly where they live and that they acquire the 
necessary skills and emotional resilience to successfully move towards 
independence. 

2.2 The Council has no legal alternative but to provide equitable Care Leavers 
Services to all eligible young people irrespective of their route into care. 
Previously unaccompanied asylum seeking children with Leave to Remain 
(LTR) in the UK must be afforded the same level of services as indigenous 
young people in accordance with their need. 

2.3 We are proposing a consistent policy that will:

 Create a single policy for all care leavers.
 Provide consistency of application of the policy between indigenous 

and previously unaccompanied asylum seeking care leavers.
 Provide clear guidance for staff, care leavers, foster carers, partner 

agencies and third sector organisations.
 Be clear about the amount of funds available and any legal process 

that may apply. 

2.4 The policy sets out which services will be provided to all care leavers, and  
which will be based on an assessment of need. All financial support is non-
repayable, and has been set in line with national minimal guidelines. 

3. Financial Implications.

3.1 The total cost of supporting Care Leavers to the Council in 2014/15 is 
forecasted as follows: 

 UASC Care Leavers £4.97 m
Indigenous Care Leavers £4.72 m

Total £ 9.7 m

These costs are made up of indirect costs of £2.6m for staffing and 
infrastructure costs, and £7.09m of direct costs for individuals concerned. 

Page 22



The new policy aims to reduce the overall direct costs for eligible care 
leavers by 5% in 2015/16. In addition to these, work is being undertaken to 
reduce the £834K costs currently attributable to non-eligible UASC care 
leavers through the undertaking of Human Rights Assessments.  

The Council receives as income £1.89 m from the Home Office towards the 
cost of supporting Care UASC care leavers. 

3.2 There are currently 1,873 children in care in Kent. Their age range is between 
0-17 years and dependant on their permanence plan could, as post 18 young 
adults request a care leaver’s service from the County.

3.3 Based on current data, 308 17 year olds will become eligible for care leaver 
services during 2015, and a further 239 16 year olds eligible in 2016. There 
are 236 20 year olds who will no longer be eligible for any or full service 
during 2105 and a further 263 19 year olds who will leave the service in 2016. 

3.4 There are currently 905 young people who are currently eligible to request 
Care leaver Services from Kent County Council. Of these 855 are aged over 
18 years with the remaining being under the age of 18 years, no longer in 
care but classed as relevant children. 338 of the cohort were previously 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children. 

3.5 The adoption of the policy will ensure that all financial provision is awarded on 
the basis of assessed need in line with Children Act statutory guidance and 
not on the basis of immigration status alone. 

3.6 The policy will enable the expenditure currently accrued for the over 21 cohort 
in UASC to be rationalised and reduced in line with Statutory Guidance. 

4. Alternatives and Options

4.1 Maintain the status quo - this does not address the Council’s non –
compliance with Statutory Guidance or the differences between the support 
available to indigenous young people and those with leave to remain in the 
UK.

4.2 Develop two separate policies based on the route into care – This could invite 
Judicial Review and would not meet the requirements of the Ofsted Single 
Inspection Framework. 

5. Progress to date

5.1 Briefing to lead member 6th November 2014

Legal sign off for Policy Document 17th November 2014.

Integrated Service restructure complete  1st December 2014

6. Legal Implications

6.1 KCC legal services has reviewed the policy and confirm that it is in line with 
the minimum requirements of relevant statutory guidance. 

Page 23



6.2 The policy meets the requirements of the Children Act, the Immigration Act 
and the Human Rights Act. 

6.3 The risk of Judicial Review and /or sanctions by the Local Government 
Ombudsman are assessed as high if the Council does not publish and 
implement an  inclusive and transparent Care Leavers policy. 

7. Personnel and Training Implications.

7.1 Once the policy is approved Procedural Guidance will be produced and 
training offered to children’s Social Workers and Personal Advisors. 

8. Property Implication

8.1 None

9. Customer Impact Assessment.

9.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared and the risk is determined 
as low. 

10. Implementation Proposals

10.1  The policy will be implemented from the 1st February 2015.

10.2 Team based workshops will be facilitated during January 2015 to 
familiarise staff with the new policy.

10.3 Interested 3rd Parties will be signposted to the policy link on the 1st 
February. 

11. Recommendation(s)

Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:

Note the content of this report.

12. Background Documents
none

13. Contact details

Report Author
 Sarah Hammond, Assistant Area Director, West Kent
 03000 411488
 Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

Relevant Director:
 Philip Segurola, Interim Director of Specialist Children’s Services
 03000  413120
 Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 24

mailto:Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

Appendix A

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL POLICY:
Care leavers and transition to adulthood 

1. Introduction
Kent County Council, in partnership with other agencies who have a responsibility to support 

young people, recognises its responsibility to assist and support our young people who are 

leaving care make a successful transition to adulthood; either through re-integrating with 

their families or becoming as self-supporting as possible.

This document refers to care leavers who were looked after by Kent County Council 

following their 16th birthday and are entitled to leaving care support from the local authority. 

The aim of this document is to set out how Kent County Council will meet its responsibilities 

to these care leavers. 

2. Legislative Framework
The Children Act 1989 and its support regulations and statutory guidance place a legal duty 

on local authorities to provide support for care leavers. The local authority is the “corporate 

parent” for children in care and therefore has a responsibility for their wellbeing. The precise 

level of care required by each care leaver will depend on their assessed needs and on their 

leaving care “status”, as defined by statute.

The 2010 (and 2011, 2014) regulations set out under Volume 3 of the Children Act 1989 

have strengthened an emphasis on leaving care as being a transitional period  rather than 

something that occurs at a particular point in time. Care leavers are expected to receive 

support from their responsible authority (the local authority that last looked after them) up to 

their 25th birthday if they so wish and are eligible. The aim of such continuing support is to 

ensure that care leavers are provided with comprehensive personal support so that they 

achieve their potential as they make the transition to adulthood. 

[Further examples legislation and guidance that underpin Volume 3 of the Children 

Act 1989 are set out in Appendix 1].

3. Definitions
Volume 3 of the Children Act 1989 regulations and statutory guidance define 5 categories of 

care leavers entitled to leaving care services. 

[See Appendix 2].

Page 25



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

4. Equality and Diversity
This policy has been subject to an equality impact assessment, as set out in the equality 

impact assessment guidance.

All staff are subject to the Kent County Council Equality & Diversity Policy Statement and 

Objectives 2012-2016 and all work is undertaken in accordance with the Cultural 

Competence in Kent Policy and Guidance.

All interactions with care leavers should consider the “About You” monitoring guidance and 

templates and will be in line with the Kent Code.

5. Care leaver’s entitlement to support from Kent County Council.
The type and level of support a care leaver can expect from their responsible authority will 

vary according to their legal status as a care leaver. These areas of entitlement to support 

are summarised in Volume 3 of the Children Act 1989 statutory guidance. 

Eligible children 

These are children in care and they will continue to receive children in care services, 

including;

 The allocation of a social worker, 

 An Independent Reviewing Officer and 

 Compliance with statutory minimum timescales regarding visits to them by their 

social worker.  

The responsible authority must provide a range of services dedicated to their successful 

transition to adulthood.  These are:

 A personal advisor

 A pathway plan; this is to be in place at least 3 months following becoming an eligible 

child (this is to be formulated by the care leaver’s personal advisor or other 

appropriate worker and based on a comprehensive assessment with the care leaver). 

Regular reviews and a revision of the pathway plan at least every 6 months (It is 

usual practice for the review of the pathway plan to take place at child in care 

Page 26

http://www.kent.gov.uk/your_council/priorities,_policies_and_plans/policies/equality_and_diversity/equality_and_diversity_policy.aspx
http://www.kent.gov.uk/your_council/priorities,_policies_and_plans/policies/equality_and_diversity/equality_and_diversity_policy.aspx
http://kentchildcare.proceduresonline.com/pdfs/culture_comp_policy.pdf
http://kentchildcare.proceduresonline.com/pdfs/culture_comp_policy.pdf


Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

statutory reviews, which are overseen by the care leaver’s Independent Reviewing 

Officer.)

 A duty to keep in touch with the care leaver

 Kent’s Pledge and Leaving Care Charter Commitments 

Relevant children 

These are no longer children in care and their legal entitlements to services and support 

from the responsible authority derive solely from the Leaving Care Regulations outlined 

under Volume 3 of the Children Act 1989. 

These are:

 To provide a personal advisor

 To provide a pathway plan (this is to be formulated by the care leaver’s personal 

advisor or other appropriate worker and based on a comprehensive assessment with 

the care leaver).  

 To review and update (where necessary) the pathway plan at least every six months

 A duty to keep in touch with the care leaver

 To provide the maintenance and accommodation costs of the care leaver up to their 

18th birthday (No relevant child other than single parents and those with a disability 

can claim state benefits )

 Kent’s Pledge and Leaving Care Charter Commitments 

Qualifying children and young people under section 24 of the Children Act 1989 

These care leavers are not entitled to a personal advisor or pathway plan. The local authority 

has a duty to provide advice and support (which at the discretion of the local authority can be 

financial) to this group of care leavers under section 24 of the Children Act 1989. This also 

includes:

 A duty to keep in touch

 Provision of vacation accommodation or the means to secure it where needed for 

young people who are in Higher or Further Education.

Former Relevant Children 

Care leavers aged between 18 to 21 years, which can extend up to their 25th birthday if they 

are disabled or engaged in a Higher Education Course that began prior to their 21st birthday. 

The responsible authority is not responsible for meeting all financial needs of former relevant 

Page 27

http://knet/CSIP/Documents/Leaving%20Care%20Charter.pdf
http://knet/CSIP/Documents/Leaving%20Care%20Charter.pdf
http://knet/CSIP/Documents/Leaving%20Care%20Charter.pdf


Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

children, although they are expected to provide financial support to assist in promoting their 

welfare; especially in relation to maintaining suitable accommodation and promoting their 

education and training.  The responsible authority must provide:

 A personal advisor

 A pathway plan, which must be reviewed and updated every 6 months (this is to be 

formulated by the care leaver’s personal advisor or other appropriate worker and 

based on a comprehensive assessment with the care leaver).  

 To provide assistance with expenses arising from education and training

 The provision of vacation accommodation (only) or the means to secure it for care 

leavers in Higher or Further Education where needed.

 A duty to keep in touch with the care leaver

 Kent’s Pledge and Leaving Care Charter Commitments. 

Former Relevant Children pursuing further education post 21 years 

The support for this group of care leavers is focused primarily on assisting them in pursuing 

their further education needs. The responsible authority must provide the following:

 A personal advisor

 A pathway plan focussed on identifying and promoting the care leaver’s further 

education needs (this is to be formulated by the care leaver’s personal advisor or 

other appropriate worker and based on a comprehensive assessment with the young 

person).  

 To revise and update the pathway plan (at least every 6 months)

 Assistance where a young person incurs expenses arising from their further 

education course.

 Kent’s Pledge and Leaving Care Charter Commitments 

6. Personal Advisors
All eligible, relevant and former relevant children are required to be provided with a 

personal advisor. By the time a care leaver reaches the age of 18 the local authority should 

have appointed a personal advisory to support them. The personal advisor will act as a focal 

point to ensure that young people are provided with the right kind of personal support. 

For eligible children, their personal advisor will be their allocated social worker.

For relevant and former relevant children, an appropriate personal advisor will be 

appointed for them from the range of professionals/staff within the Care Leaver Service from 

Page 28

http://knet/CSIP/Documents/Leaving%20Care%20Charter.pdf
http://knet/CSIP/Documents/Leaving%20Care%20Charter.pdf


Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

which they are receiving support. For this group of care leavers, the personal advisor need 

not be a qualified social worker but will meet the requirements of a personal advisor set out 

under volume 3 of the Children Act 1989 statutory guidance (see paragraphs 3.20 to 3.26).    

Examples where the personal advisor will be the care leaver’s initial source of advice might 

include: 

i) Basic information and assistance to develop the practical skills they will need as they 

assume the responsibilities of greater independence; 

ii) Information about financial capability; 

iii) Information about the housing options potentially available to the care leaver and 

how to access accommodation and advice; 

iv) Support to the care leaver to develop their confidence and decision-making capacity; 

v) Information about education, training and employment opportunities; 

vi) Support in finding and sustaining employment; 

vii) General information about maintaining positive health and wellbeing; knowledge 

about how to access targeted and specialist health services; 

viii) Information about leisure, sporting and cultural opportunities to enable care leavers 

to enjoy and participate in community life. 

7. Pathway Plans
A pathway plan must be prepared with and for care leavers (Children Act 1989).  

The pathway plan should be prepared prior to the care leaver ceasing to be looked after and 

should be considered at each statutory review. In developing the plan, the personal advisor 

should involve the care leaver and consult with various others such as parents, current 

carers, teacher or tutor, nurse, reviewing officer and any advocate.

Ideally, the pathway plan should be produced before the care leaver reaches the age of 18 

but if there isn’t a pathway plan in place, the personal advisor should develop a plan with the 

care leaver. The pathway plan is to be reviewed and revised regularly. The care leaver 

should be asked who they want to contribute to the plan and it will usually include the care 

leaver’s carer along with someone able to advise on the care leaver’s education, training and 

employment pathway.

Each care leaver’s pathway plan will be based on and include their care plan and will set out 

the actions that must be taken by the responsible authority (in this case Kent County 

Page 29



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

Council), the care leaver, their parents, their carers and the full range of agencies 

involved/needing to be involved with them.

Pathway plan needs assessment
The pathway plan will be based on an up-to-date and thorough assessment of the care 

leaver’s needs, which will be completed in the following timeframes:    

A) For children in long term care where it is confirmed in their plan more than 6 months 

prior to their 16th birthday that they will continue to be looked after, the pathway plan 

assessment will be completed prior to their 16th birthday so that a pathway plan can 

be put in place immediately.

B) For any child in care not coming under (A), the pathway plan assessment should, 

start prior to their 16th birthday, once it is expected they will become an eligible child, 

and no later than 3 months following the care leaver becoming an eligible child.  

The pathway plan must address in particular: 

 The care leaver’s health and development, (building on the information included in 

the care leaver’s health plan, identified within their care plan)

 The plan should support the care leaver’s access to positive activities.

 Education, training and employment. Information within the care leaver’s Personal 

Education Plan (PEP) will feed directly into the pathway plan. 

 Contact with the care leaver’s parents, wider family and friends and the capacity of 

this network to encourage and enable the care leaver to make a positive transition to 

adulthood.

 The care leaver’s financial capabilities and money management capacity, with 

strategies to develop the care leaver’s skills in this area. 

 The pathway plan should include details about the kind of support that the care 

leaver can expect their personal advisor to provide. 

 The pathway plan will also need to include scope for contingencies that might be 

required to be followed as the relationship changes over time.

Where the care plan for the care leaver has been maintained and kept up to date, the 

development of the pathway plan should build on information and services set out in the care 

plan, incorporating the services that will be provided to the care leaver to develop their 

resilience and equip them to make a positive transition to adulthood so that they can 

manage the challenges of more independent living. 

Page 30



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

A copy of the pathway plan must be given to the care leaver.

Care leavers who are service users of adult social care services should have their own 

support plan. The additional requirements set out in the pathway plan should be 

supplementary to the adult social care support plan. 

8. Review of the Pathway Plan
It is necessary for every care leaver’s pathway plans to be reviewed and updated  regularly 

and at least every 6 months.

For eligible children, the review of the pathway plan would normally coincide with the 

statutory child in care review and would be overseen by the care leaver’s Independent 

Reviewing Officer. 

For relevant and former relevant children, the timeframe for reviewing the pathway plan is 

the same as it is for eligible children although these care leavers will not have an 

Independent Reviewing Officer to oversee the review.  

For eligible, relevant and former relevant children, it is recommended that the review of 

the pathway plan is undertaken by a qualified social worker who is not the allocated personal 

advisor. 

9. Eligible and Relevant Children who return home (Regulation 3(2) (B))
When an eligible person not subject to a care order (section 31 of the Children Act 1989) or 

a relevant child is successfully living at home for more than 6 months they become a 

qualifying child/ young person under section 24 of the Children Act 1989.  

If the return home breaks down and they are aged 16/17 years old, they will automatically 

revert to being a relevant child.

10. Staying Put arrangements
The intention of ‘Staying Put’ arrangements is to ensure that care leavers can remain with 

their former foster carers until they are 21 or adequately prepared for adulthood, whichever 

is first. This allows for the care leaver to experience a transition similar to their peers, avoid 

social exclusion and be less likely to experience a subsequent housing and tenancy 

breakdown.

Page 31



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

It is important that the term ‘arrangement’ is used rather than ‘placement’ as once a care 

leaver reaches 18 they are no longer legally ‘in care’, and the Care Planning Regulations 

and Fostering Services Regulations and guidance no longer apply.

Kent County Council’s Staying Put arrangements are applicable to all care leavers in the 

care of the local authority who are living with foster carers on their 18th birthday. The carers 

may be Kent Foster Carers, Connected Person’s Carers or Independent Fostering Agency 

Carers.

This arrangement also applies to unaccompanied asylum seeking children who reach the 

age of 18, and who have ‘leave to remain’. 

Care leavers in residential placements are not covered by Staying Put arrangements.

Regulatory Framework
Staying Put enables, supports and encourages care leavers to remain with their former 

foster carers beyond their 18th birthday and is set out in Section 23CZA of the Children Act 

1989.

Standard 12.4 of the National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services sets out the 

service standards to be applied to local authority Staying Put arrangements.

Definition of a Staying Put Arrangement
In the ‘Staying Put’ Guidance 2013, the Department for Education outlines when the term 

‘staying put’ arrangements can be used, which is as follows:

1. A care leaver who was looked after immediately prior to their 18th birthday (as an 

eligible child) continues to reside with their former foster carers;

2. The carers were acting as foster carers to the child immediately prior to the care 

leaver’s 18th birthday, (that is, the carers were approved as foster carers in 

accordance with the Fostering Service (England) Regulations 2011, and the child 

had been placed with them by the local authority, or via an Independent Fostering 

Agency);

3. A care leaver is deemed an eligible child, within the meaning of paragraph 19B(2) of 

Schedule 2 of the Children Act 1989, immediately before he/she reached 18;

4. The ‘Staying Put’ arrangement is needs led and is set out in the care leaver’s 

pathway plan;

Page 32



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

5. A proportion of the allowance paid to the ‘Staying Put’ carer is paid by the Local 

Authority’s Children’s Services under section 23C of the Children Act 1989;

6. The ‘Staying Put’ arrangement extends until:

 The care leaver leaves the ‘Staying Put’ arrangement;

Or

 The care leaver reaches their 21st birthday, if continuously, and still living in 

the arrangement;

Or

 The care leaver completes the agreed programme of education or training 

being undertaken on or before their 21st birthday, if continuously living in the 

arrangement since their 18th birthday.

Planning for Staying Put Arrangements
The leaving care ‘assessment of need’ undertaken around a care leaver’s 16th birthday 

should begin to establish the timescale required for a care leaver to be adequately prepared 

for moving into independence. This will be reviewed via the statutory review of the care 

leaver’s pathway plan, and consideration will be given to the appropriateness of a ‘Staying 

Put’ arrangement being agreed once the care leaver reaches 18.

If it is agreed that a ‘Staying Put’ arrangement is appropriate, the care leaver’s pathway plan 

should set out in detail all the practical arrangements regarding the care leaver remaining as 

a young adult in the ‘Staying Put’ arrangement. This will cover arrangements such as:

 Preparation for adulthood and independence skills

 Education, training and employment activities

 Financial issues, such as income and benefits claims

 Health arrangements

 Friends/partners visiting and staying at the address

 Moving on arrangements

 Safeguarding issues including consideration of any younger foster children in 

placement at the same address

The change from foster child to an adult member of the household, and for the carer from 

foster carer to landlord (Staying Put Carer), should be carefully and sensitively planned in 

order to ensure that both parties understand the nature of the arrangement. The positive 

aspects of the earlier foster placement should not be diminished by the new legal and 

financial arrangements and terminology.

Page 33



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

Following a care leaver’s 18th birthday, the legal basis on which they occupy the property 

changes, and they become an ‘excluded licensee’ who is effectively lodging in the ‘Staying 

Put’ carer’s home. In accordance with this change, fostering payments will be replaced by 

funding for a lodging arrangement. 

Consideration will need to be given to the impact on the foster carers’ terms of approval.

11. Financial arrangements for Kent County Council care leavers entering Higher 
Education

Principles

 For the purposes of this document  Higher Education is divided into two parts:

1. Further Education (FE) includes any study after secondary education that is not 

part of higher education (that is, not taken as part of an undergraduate or 

graduate degree). Courses can range from basic English and Maths to Higher 

National Diplomas (HNDs). FE also includes technical level qualifications and 

applied general qualifications, which replace diplomas and vocational 

qualifications.

2. Higher Education (HE) primarily describes post-18 learning that takes place at 

universities, as well as other colleges and institutions that award academic 

degrees, professional qualifications and Continuing Professional Development 

(CPD). 

 The Care Leaver Service, children in care teams and fostering service will work 

together to ensure that children in care begin preparation for financial independence 

as early as possible and receive guidance on developing the necessary skills.

 The Care Leaver Service will provide an assessed package of financial support for all 

care leavers that will contribute to maintaining them up to independence and support 

their overall pathway plan by meeting their identified needs and helping them to 

achieve their potential.

 All decisions on eligibility and levels of financial support will be based on a thorough 

assessment of all the care leaver’s needs. The level of financial support available to 

care leavers will be reviewed on a yearly basis and will involve input by the Children 

in Care council (OCYPC). The document will be made available to all stakeholders 

including the care leaver.

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-the-quality-of-further-education-and-skills-training/supporting-pages/technical-level-qualifications
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-the-quality-of-further-education-and-skills-training/supporting-pages/technical-level-qualifications
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-the-quality-of-further-education-and-skills-training/supporting-pages/applied-general-qualifications


Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

 Social workers and personal advisors will ensure that young people are aware of and 

fully understand the criteria and how decisions have been made regarding any 

financial support package.

 In order to encourage care leavers to learn budgeting skills, financial support will, 

where possible, be paid directly to care leavers unless assessment shows that this is 

not in their best interest. 

 Decisions on how financial support will be delivered to a care leaver will be taken by 

their allocated social worker or personal advisor following assessment of their 

budgeting skills during the pathway planning process.

 The Care Leaver Service will help care leavers access sound financial advice in 

relation to investing any other monies they receive.

 Care leavers who are the responsibility of Kent County Council and who live outside 

of Kent will not be financially disadvantaged and will receive the same level of 

financial support as if they were care leavers living in Kent.

Policy statement
A key purpose of financial support is to help care leavers transition successfully into adult 

life, so much of the focus of financial support is around enabling care leavers to make the 

most of their opportunities for education, training and employment as well as ensuring their 

maintenance and accommodation and health promotion.

Much of the work carried out with care leavers will focus on learning key budgeting skills so 

that they are able to manage their finances in the future. Kent County Council believes it is 

essential that care leavers are aware of their own responsibilities and that financial support 

is used for the purpose it is given.

The Care Leaver Service will attach conditions, such as attendance at college, to any 

discretionary payments, and will use a variety of financial sanctions such as reducing 

maintenance allowances for care leavers who fail to co-operate with the service or do not 

engage with the pathway plan process. Equally, the Care Leaver Service may also consider 

payment of incentives to encourage care leavers to commit to education and training plans.

Eligibility
Eligibility for financial support packages is based on the care leavers leaving care status 

which is described as follows:

Page 35



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

 Eligible children are eligible for accommodation and living expenses and support 

with education, training and employment costs if assessed accordingly. 

 Relevant children are eligible for accommodation and financial maintenance if not 

living at home, and support with education, training and employment costs if 

assessed accordingly. Single parents and disabled care leavers can apply for income 

support but not housing benefit.

 Former relevant children are entitled to support with education, training and 

employment costs and vacation accommodation if in higher education and if 

assessed accordingly.

 Adults who come within this category are those aged 21-24 years who were former 

relevant children to Kent County Council and who are looking to return or begin 

another course of FE/HE or training. They may receive support with education or 

training costs including support for higher education costs for the duration of the 

course. This would include any former relevant child whose status as such went past 

21 years of age while they were continuing to study for a FE/HE course that began 

prior to their 21st birthday. 

 Qualifying children under Section 24 of the Children Act 1989; care leavers aged 

between 16 and 21 who were looked after by Kent County Council but do not qualify 

as an eligible or relevant child. These care leavers can be assessed for support 

needs relating to their education and training including travel expenses.

Process for agreeing financial support 
Financial support can only be agreed as part of the care leaver’s pathway plan. The care 

leaver’s needs regarding financial support should be assessed within the pathway needs 

assessment and areas of support plus amounts to be paid, along with the frequency of 

payment, will be set out in the care leaver’s pathway plan. 

Many payments made by the Care Leaver Service are discretionary and the amount paid will 

be dependent on the care leaver’s need; payment of discretionary allowances will only be 

authorised following an assessment of need.

Financial support will be reviewed every 6 months at the pathway plan review but care 

leavers can ask their social worker or personal advisor to review their support needs earlier 

where their circumstances have changed or where they are having difficulty in managing 

their finances.

Page 36



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

Payments
All care leavers will be expected to have a bank account and payment of all allowances and 

grants from the Care Leaver Service will be made directly into this bank account unless 

there are concerns about the care leaver’s ability to manage their money. For those care 

leavers who are unable to access mainstream banking services, payments will be made 

through the use of a payment card administered by Kent County Council. 

For those individuals about whom concerns exist, the social worker or personal advisor may 

agree with the care leaver to release small amounts of allowances to them at more regular 

intervals while they develop the skills to budget more effectively. Social workers and 

personal advisors should regularly assess how the care leaver is managing their money and 

whether they need extra support in learning how to budget. 

In a crisis or other emergency where a care leaver makes a request for emergency funds, 

the social worker or personal advisor must carry out an assessment to look into the 

circumstances of the request before agreeing any support.

Requests for emergency payment may also be indicative of other issues, for example 

substance misuse or debt, and this should be explored during the assessment. Wherever 

possible, emergency assistance should be given in the form of a food parcel rather than 

cash.

In exceptional circumstances, and following assessment, the Care Leaver Service can 

provide payment for clothing or emergency accommodation, but this must be authorised by 

the Care Leaver Service Manager. 

If payments are to be stopped for any reason, this must be discussed with the social worker 

or personal advisor’s line manager and the social worker or personal advisor should write to 

the care leaver to explain the reasons for this.

Change of circumstances
It is important that social workers and personal advisors remind care leavers of the need to 

notify the Care Leaver Service of any change of circumstances that may affect their 

entitlement to financial support or payments, for example, where they:

 start or finish employment

 start at or leave an educational course or an unpaid training provision 

Page 37



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

 receive benefits or have benefits stopped

 become pregnant or have a baby

 change accommodation

 Any change to their immigration status.

Also, social workers and personal advisors should be aware of those care leavers who are 

approaching their 18th birthday when eligibility for financial support changes, and ensure that 

the care leaver receives the right kind of support ahead of this change. This should be 

addressed at the pathway plan review prior to the care leaver’s 18th birthday.

11 Financial support for eligible young people in foster care
Eligible care leavers who live with their foster carer will continue to have all payments made 

directly to their foster carer. However, in order to help them learn budgeting and financial 

management skills as part of their next steps assessment, care leavers and their foster 

carers will agree any sums of money to be paid to the care leaver by their foster carer for 

specific items such as clothing, travel, books or equipment.

12 Financial support for eligible and relevant children aged 16 and 17 living in 
semi-independent accommodation

Accommodation and maintenance
Care leavers will receive a weekly allowance [see Appendix 3] for their maintenance 

subject to their continued engagement with their education, training or employment plan. The 

care leaver’s social worker or personal advisor will actively seek information from colleges, 

trainers and employers regarding the young person’s level of attendance and commitment to 

their plan. 

The care leaver’s social worker or personal advisor should discuss with their supervisor 

whether or not to reduce the young person’s allowance, if any of the following circumstances 

arise,:

 failure to comply with conditions relating to education, training or employment plans

 failure to stay in pathway accommodation or failure to meet the terms of the licence 

agreement, including causing damage to the property. 

 Failure to engage with the pathway process or attend pathway reviews

 Failure to meet regularly with their social worker, personal advisor (if different) and 

keyworker.

Page 38



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

Care leavers who can demonstrate a commitment to their pathway plan and comply with 

regulatory requirements to attend statutory medicals, dental check-ups and engagement in 

Education, Employment or Training can receive up to an additional [see Appendix 3] 

incentive payment per week, on the recommendation of their social worker. 

Support for education, training and employment
Care leavers remaining in further education or training will be expected to apply via their 

school, college or training provider for a 16-19 vulnerable student bursary to fund their 

education. The social worker or personal advisor will be expected to support care leavers to 

make the necessary applications in accordance with the bursary guidance. 

In the event that a care leaver is refused a bursary, the social worker should actively 

investigate the reason for this. The Care Leaver Service can contribute towards enrolment 

costs and equipment for courses following an assessment of the care leaver’s need if a 

bursary is not received.

It is likely that the school, college or training provider will place conditions on the bursary 

such as levels of attendance and behaviour. Social workers and personal advisors should 

liaise with colleges to ensure that the care leaver is able to meet the conditions set.

Clothing

 Additional payments may be available to assist with clothing needs [Appendix 3] 

Contact
The Care Leaver Service has a duty to support contact for eligible care leavers. Any financial 

support for contact will be based on an assessment of need.

13 Financial Support for former relevant children aged 18 to 21 years old. 

Accommodation and maintenance
The use of supported accommodation will be explored where it is identified via the pathway 

plan that a young person reaching 18 years of age has not yet acquired adequate 

independent living skills or the emotional resilience to live alone. A support fee will be paid to 

the supported lodgings provider by Kent County Council and the care leaver will pay the rent 

element via the housing benefit paid for that area or from the income received if in 

employment. If a care leaver is in an apprenticeship then consideration will be made to 

Page 39

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/239840/EFA-00044-2013.pdf


Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

‘topping up’ the rent. The placement will be kept under regular review and the development 

of the necessary skills will be monitored. 

At 18, the Care Leaver Service will no longer provide for the care leaver’s  maintenance and 

the care leaver will be expected to be self-supporting either through working, claiming 

benefits or a combination of both unless they are in higher education. 

Where appropriate, care leavers will be expected to apply for either Income Support or Job 

Seekers Allowance and Housing Benefit to cover whole or part of the costs of their 

accommodation. 

The Care Leaver Service will ensure that all care leavers get expert advice on maximising 

their income and claiming any benefits to which they are entitled. Social workers should 

ensure all benefits have been applied for prior to handing over the case to the personal 

advisor.

The Care Leaver Service will pay up to 4 weeks subsistence [Appendix 3] while a benefit 

claim is being processed. If payment of benefit is delayed following 4 weeks, the Care 

Leaver Service will continue to pay a subsistence rate but only if the care leaver has 

complied with all the requirements from the DWP regarding the claim. After 4 weeks the 

payments would be reduced and a food voucher to a specified value [Appendix 3] plus 

utility meter card would be provided rather than money.

In individual circumstances and depending on assessment, the care leaver may be expected 

to sign a “benefit waiting loan agreement” stating that they will pay back any monies 

advanced by the Care Leaver Service once benefits are paid, and should agree to share 

information about the claim with the Care Leaver Service so that their personal advisor can 

liaise with the DWP regarding the progress of the claim. 

If the loan is not repaid, the Care Leaver Service may deduct the amount from the care 

leaver’s setting up home allowance and any further requests for financial help may not be 

considered until the money is repaid.

The exception to this are UASC care leavers who are all rights exhausted and have no 

recourse to public funds prior (NRPF) to a human rights assessment being undertaken. 

Page 40



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

Support for education, training and employment
The Care Leaver Service will carry out a needs assessment and may make a contribution to 

the young person’s enrolment, travel and equipment costs.

Savings and other monies
Any savings that have been accrued on behalf of the care leaver whilst in care will be paid to 

them on their 18th birthday unless there are concerns about a care leaver’s lifestyle, for 

example substance misuse, that means it would not be in their interests to do so. A decision 

may then be taken by the Care Leaver Service to hold the money until it is thought the care 

leaver is financially competent.

Where a care leaver has received other monies, either from the Criminal Injury 

Compensation Board or by way of inheritance, the Care Leaver Service will help them to 

access independent financial advice on investing this money.

14 Financial support for former relevant children aged 21-24 (incl) years returning 
to education or training
The Care Leaver Service can consider providing financial support for care leavers aged 21 

to 24 who wish to pursue a programme of education and training for the duration of the 

course. 

The provision of financial assistance will be based on a needs assessment and may be 

agreed in order to cover enrolment fees, equipment and travel allowances. Other alternative 

funding streams will be also sought by the personal advisor. The level of financial support 

provided would be identified in the amended pathway plan.

 If the care leaver is not provided with financial assistance based on their needs assessment, 

the care leaver would be expected to be self-funding through income or savings. 

If the care leaver wishes to pursue a higher education course, see section 19 onwards.

15 Birthday allowances   
Birthday gifts, gift vouchers or a cash payment will be given to the care leaver by their social 

worker or personal advisor following a discussion as to what their preference is but only if 

the care leaver has remained in contact with the 16+ service. [The gift rates are set out in 

Appendix 3]

Page 41



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

16 Travel expenses
All eligible care leavers in foster care or children’s homes have their travel costs met through 

the allowances provided.

All care leavers aged between 16 and 21 years who are in care or are care leavers are 

eligible for a passport. The care leaver will be expected to provide a passport photograph 

and the social worker or personal adviser will then forward the application. 

If the care leaver travels to College in an area not covered by their Young Persons Travel 

Pass then the Care Leaver Service will assess the travel costs and all available options for 

paying for travel. The best route and cheapest means of travel will be taken into 

consideration as will their income. A care leaver may also be expected to use part of the 

bursary payments as a contribution to the travel costs.

Transport costs can be supported in order to maintain a care leaver in education training or 

employment. This payment is discretionary and based on the care leaver’s continued 

engagement with their education, training and work programme. 

Social workers and personal advisors should therefore regularly check with colleges, training 

providers and employers to monitor engagement. 

Where the care leaver is not engaged, the social worker or personal advisor will discuss this 

with their supervisor and a decision made about whether or not to stop the payment.

The costs of any travel will not be routinely paid for unless:

 The necessary travel is not covered by the Kent Young Persons Travel Pass (or 

equivalent)

 The travel is to support contact arrangements for an eligible child

 Where assessment shows the care leaver needs support for travel due to any 

additional needs. 

17 Allowances related to accommodation

Setting up home allowance
A setting up home allowance [as specified in Appendix 3, with conditions] is available to 

care leavers aged 18 plus who have been nominated for their own tenancy or approved 

Page 42



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

long-term private rented property before their 21st birthday (up to 24 years if the care leaver 

is engaged in a HE course that began prior to their 21st birthday).  

It is expected that care leavers moving on from foster care will have basic items. Other 

funding streams to compliment the allowance will be sought by the social worker or personal 

adviser.

Deposits for private rented accommodation
The Care Leaver Service will:

 Pay any accommodation related administration fee to the landlord or agent. (In 

addition to the Setting up Home allowance.)

 Pay for the first month’s rent, which will be deducted from the Setting up Home 

allowance on the assumption that the young person will recoup this money from 

benefits, salary if in paid employment or a mixture of both.

 Pay the deposit for the private rented accommodation if all other avenues to pay for 

this have been exhausted. 

It is important that care leavers and their social worker or personal advisor check that the 

rent payable will be covered by housing benefit before taking on any tenancy. The Manager 

of the Care Leavers Service must agree to any advance under this scheme having 

considered all the facts.

Moving costs
Costs incurred by 16 and 17 year olds moving on and former relevant children aged 18 plus 

who are moving to their own independent tenancy will be paid on a discretionary basis 

following an assessment of need by the Care Leaver Service. 

Staying Put arrangements
Kent County Council’s “Staying Put” arrangement allows care leavers to remain with their 

foster carer post 18 because they are classed as vulnerable and unable to move on to 

independence, because they need continuity while completing higher or further education or 

simply because both the care leaver and the foster carer are in agreement to the 

arrangement continuing until the care leaver reaches the age of 21 and this is thought to be 

in the care leaver’s best interest. 

 Care leavers remaining with their foster carer during Year 13 (A Level) or final year 

BTEC year will continue to receive their fostering allowance up to their 18th birthday 

Page 43



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

or until the end of June to cover the exam period. If they are going on to university in 

the September/October of this same year the Care Leaver Service will pay a Staying 

Put Allowance for the summer period, with it being specified in each circumstance 

what this allowance is paid to cover. 

 Former relevant children remaining with their former foster carers because they are 

still in further education can claim benefits. Care leavers in full time further education 

can also claim income support. Care leavers in part time education need to claim Job 

Seekers Allowance and seek part time employment. 

 Care leavers who are eligible to claim benefits will be expected to make the 

necessary claims, supported by their personal advisor, including a claim for Housing 

Benefit that should be paid in full to the carer. Disability allowance must be retained 

by the young person. If the foster carer is claiming benefits, being in receipt of 

Housing Benefit for the care leaver will have to be taken into account for their own 

benefit entitlement. 

 Care leavers who work will be expected to pay a contribution to the carer for their 

rent and maintenance.

18 Care leavers in exceptional circumstances
It is recognised by the Care Leaver Service that care leavers have a variety of needs 

stemming from exceptional circumstances and to reflect this, the finance policy will be as 

flexible as possible based on assessment of the care leaver’s circumstances.

Young Parents
Care leavers who are single parents are expected to maximise their income and may claim 

the following benefits: 

 16 and 17 year old eligible and relevant children may claim income support but not 

housing benefit; accommodation costs will be met by the Care Leaver Service. 

 Care leavers aged 18 and over may claim income support if they are a lone parent 

with a child under the age of 5 and will also need to claim housing benefit. Once the 

child is 5 years the care leaver will be expected to transfer to Job Seekers Allowance.

 Mothers to be aged 16 or 17 living in semi-independent accommodation will receive a 

one-off payment from the Care Leaver Service once they have passed 20 weeks of 

the pregnancy [specified in Appendix 3]. 

 Young parents may also claim a Maternity Grant [specified in Appendix 3] on the 

birth of their first baby (or subsequent multiple births e.g. twins) if they are in receipt 

Page 44



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

of benefits to help pay for essential equipment. A claim should be made as soon as a 

claim for income support is submitted.

The Care Leaver Service will help parents who wish to take up education, training or 

employment opportunities to identify possible funds to cover child-care costs. The Care 

Leaver Service will carry out an assessment of the young parent’s needs and decide what 

contribution will be made to other costs of education such as enrolment fees, travel and 

equipment.

 Care leavers in higher education who have dependent children can claim a Childcare 

grant available from the DWP for help with childcare costs.

 Care leavers who wish to return to or remain in further education can apply for a 

Care to Learn grant available from the DWP for help with child-care costs.

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC)
Ordinarily, the Care Leaver Service will support UASC aged 16 and 17 in a  manner 

consistent with all children in care and the provisions mentioned above. In circumstances 

where additional support is required this will be subject to agreement by the relevant 

Assistant Director. 

At, or immediately before the age of 18 the care leaver’s immigration status will be 

determined. When applying the guidance above, it is important that planning for UASC 

reflects the various options around that determination of immigration status. It is also 

important to understand that post 18, the status will affect their entitlement to benefits in the 

UK. 

It is important that in order to ensure the care leaver can access financial support, their 

personal advisor encourages them to pursue relevant immigration applications and appeals 

to secure their right to residence in the UK. This includes supporting them to access a 

solicitor so that they can get legal advice.

The cost of access and advocacy support from a solicitor in relation to their asylum 

claim/immigration status is funded solely by legal aid and KCC will not ordinarily provide any 

additional funding for this.

Once UASC are 18, their entitlement is as follows: 

Page 45



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

 UASC whose immigration status beyond the age of 18 has been resolved and who 

have right of residency in the UK are expected to claim benefits and can receive 

support from the Care Leaver Service as for any other former relevant child.

 UASC who are still waiting to hear the outcome of their application for asylum or 

extension of leave to enable them to remain in the UK beyond the age of 18 can be 

supported by the Care Leaver Service as a former relevant child. 

 UASC whose application for asylum has failed or who are unlawfully in the UK 

because they have exhausted all rights to appeal will have no recourse to public 

funds and legally, should not be supported by the Care Leaver Service. They should 

agree to a voluntary return to their country of origin and be referred to the National 

Asylum Support Service (NASS). 

 However, the care leaver could be entitled to support under the Human Rights Act 

1998. The social worker or personal advisor will carry out a human rights assessment 

in all cases where this is applicable to ensure that the young person’s basic needs 

are met up to the point that they are removed from the UK by the Home Office or 

choose to leave independently, in which case the Home Office should be informed by 

the social worker or personal advisor. 

Social workers and personal advisors should seek specialist advice if necessary given the 

complexity of immigration law.

Eligible Children returning home
Eligible children aged 16 or 17 who are returning home as part of a planned reconciliation 

become relevant children and will receive financial support from the Care Leaver Service 

initially whilst their parents re-apply for appropriate benefits such as child benefit.

The care leaver will be expected to be in education, training or employment and should be 

receiving a bursary or other financial support or income or should be being supported by 

their parents. However, the Care Leaver Service can carry out an assessment of need and 

provide financial support in order to support the reconciliation plan.

Where the care leaver returns home in an unplanned manner, the Care Leaver Service will 

continue to pay their weekly allowance and any other discretionary payments for 6 weeks 

until it is established whether the care leaver will remain at home. In these circumstances, 

the social worker should convene an early pathway review to consider the situation and 

adjust the pathway plan.

Page 46



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

Once a child remains at home for 6 months, their status under the Children (Leaving Care) 

Act 2000 (amending the Children Act 1989) changes to Qualifying Young Person and the 

Care Leaver Service will cease to provide financial support except under exceptional 

circumstances and following an assessment of need.

If the placement breaks down prior to the care leaver’s 18th birthday, and they need to be 

provided with accommodation, they would return to being a former relevant child. 

Care leavers who are detained
Care leavers who are detained are likely to need financial support to cover the costs of 

clothing, personal items and toiletries but all other payments will be suspended.

All eligible children who receive a custodial sentence will be entitled to an assessment of 

their needs while detained regardless of their care status, and this assessment should 

include what personal allowance they will need subject to any rules the secure establishment 

has on what monies young people are allowed to receive.

Relevant children will also be entitled to an assessment of need and will receive pocket 

money each week at a set rate [see Appendix 3] a lower amount if this exceeds the rules of 

the youth detention institution. 

If the care leaver is subject to a care order or is a relevant child who will continue to be 

eligible for birthday and Christmas allowances, these allowances should continue to be paid 

into their bank account or set aside for them on release. 

Care leavers who are sentenced to more than 6 months in custody will receive if the need 

arises their clothing allowance entitlement on release or during sentence if the secure 

establishment does not provide a uniform.

Whilst detained in prison, care leavers will be expected to take up and engage fully with any 

education and training opportunities and to earn money by working in the institution where 

possible. 

19 Higher education costs
Care leavers entering higher education will receive: 

Page 47



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

 A yearly grant. The amount paid for the duration of the 3 year degree course is 

inclusive of the government bursary [see Appendix 3 for rates]

 Travel costs to return during holiday periods

 Reasonable accommodation costs during holiday periods.

 All relevant Pledge commitments, including the provision of a lap-top (from the 2nd 

year of A level or equivalent BTEC).

 Assistance from their personal advisor to apply for all available student loans and 

bursaries to cover fees and maintenance.

The costs of term time accommodation must be met by the student through the use of the 

student maintenance loan, the yearly grant and/or part time working.   

20 Identification documents
The Care Leaver Service will ensure that all care leavers are supported to obtain important 

documents such as birth certificates, passports and other documents that prove their 

identification. 

The Care Leaver Service will pay for each care leaver’s copy birth certificate and fund 

applications for passports or travel documents on a discretionary basis following an 

assessment of need.

21 Suitability of accommodation
In determining the suitability of accommodation for relevant children (under schedule 2 of the 

Care Leavers Regulations 2010 and Schedule 6 of the Care Planning, Placement and Case 

Review Regulations 2010) regard should be had to:

A. In respect of accommodation:

a) The facilities and services provided

b) The state of repair

c) The safety

d) The location

e) The support

f) The tenancy status, and

g) The financial commitments involved for the relevant child and their affordability

B. In respect of the relevant child:

a) His or her views about the accommodation

b) His or her understanding of their rights and responsibilities in relation to the 

accommodation, and

Page 48



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

c) His or her understanding of funding arrangements 

22 Children in Care with a disability – transition to Adult Services
This section applies to Children in Care with a Disability (CWD) meeting Specialist Children’s 

Service eligibility criteria who are supported by the Disabled Children’s Service (DCS).  

At the age of 16 or shortly after, DCS start the planning of a child’s leaving care with a Year 

11 (Y11) review and the development of a pathway plan.

A. If a Kent Child in Care with a Disability at 18 is assessed as being eligible for Kent 

Adult Service Support (KASS) then KASS are responsible for their:

 Eligible adult service support

 Care leaving support entitlements (18-25)

B. If a Kent Child in Care with a Disability at 18 is not eligible for (KASS) then the Kent 

18+ Care Leaver Service are responsible for their:

 Care Leaving support entitlements(18-25)

Service Procedures
See Appendix 4

Page 49



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

APPENDIX 1
Examples of legislation and guidance that underpin Volume 3 of the Children Act 1989

 The Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010

 The Children Act 1989

 The Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000

 Volume 2 of the Children Act 1989 regulations and statutory guidance: Care 

Planning, Placement and Case Review

 The Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000

 Valuing People: The Learning Disability Strategy for the 21st Century

 Promoting the educational achievement of looked after children; statutory guidance 

for local authorities, 2010

 Working Together to Safeguard Children, 2013

Page 50



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

APPENDIX 2

DEFINITIONS OF CARE STATUS FOR FORMER RELEVANT CHILDREN AND 
QUALIFYING YOUNG PEOPLE

Eligible Children  

Young people aged 16 and 17 years of age who have been looked after for at least 13 

weeks (with at least one episode of care lasting more than 4 weeks) since the age of 14 

years and who continue to be looked after for at least 24 hours following their 16th birthday.

Children or young people receiving a number of short term breaks, none longer than 4 

weeks and who return to their parents or someone with parental responsibility, do not meet 

the criteria of an eligible child.

Time spent by a young person in a hospital or in custody immediately prior to being looked 

after does count as time looked after for the purposes of defining entitlement to services and 

support as a care leaver. These young people would become eligible if they met the 13 week 

requirement and, after discharge/release from hospital/custody, they become Relevant 

Children following their 16th birthday if under 18 years, and a former relevant child following 

their 18th birthday. 

Relevant Children 

Children and young people aged 16 and 17 years of age who met the criteria as an eligible 

child but ceased to be looked after prior to their 18th birthday.  

Qualifying children and young people over 16 

This refers to young people between the ages of 16 and 21 who have been looked after for 

at least 24 hours following their 16th birthday and do not meet the 13 week criteria necessary 

to become an eligible or relevant child.  

Young people who have been privately fostered or were looked after immediately prior to 

becoming subject to a Special Guardianship Order also come under these criteria following 

their 16th birthday.

An eligible or relevant child who successfully returns home to their parents would revert to 

the care leaver status of a ‘qualifying child/young person’ if their return home was deemed 

permanent (usually determined as a minimum of 6 months);

 If a young person was looked after following their 16th birthday for any period over 24 

hours but less than a total of 3 months.

Page 51



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

 If a young person, since age 14 years has been looked after but has not been looked 

after for more than a month in any single period.

 Young people who were eligible but returned home permanently, prior to 18th 

birthday.

 Any young person who is subject to a Special Guardianship Order who was 

immediately prior to the making of the order looked after.

This status lasts until the young person’s 21st birthday. Other than those in Higher Education 

(university) where there is an entitlement for the Local Authority to pay for their 

accommodation costs over the vacation periods, the level of support provided by the Local 

Authority is significantly less than it is for former relevant children.  

Former Relevant Children 

Young people who are not children but rather young adults aged between 18 and 20 who 

met the criteria of an eligible and/or relevant child prior to their 18th birthday and who have 

subsequently reached 18 years of age. 

The category extends up to a young person’s 21st birthday or 25th birthday if they are 

disabled or engaged in Higher Education and (since April 2011) if after 21 they wish to 

pursue some form of Further Education.  

Former Relevant Children pursuing Further Education post 21 years 

This refers to young people aged 21 to 24 years of age who met the criteria of a former 

relevant child prior to their 21st birthday and who have subsequently returned to further 

education or expressed a desire, to the responsible authority, to pursue further education 

beyond their 21st birthday.

Responsible Authority 

This is the council/local authority that last looked after the young person and therefore 

remains responsible for providing the Care Leaver Service to the young person as a 

qualifying, relevant or former relevant child wherever they are living.    

Page 52



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

APPENDIX 3 

Financial Support to Care Leavers
For eligible and relevant children aged 16 and 17 living in semi-independent 

accommodation; a weekly allowance of £57.35 for accommodation and maintenance is 

payable.

Care leavers can receive up to an additional £20 per week incentive payment on the 

recommendation of their social worker for demonstrating a commitment to their pathway plan 

and compliance with regulatory requirements and engagement in Education, Employment or 

Training

Subsistence payments paid at a rate of; £57.35 per week, while a benefit claim is being 

processed (for up to 4 weeks). Then at a rate of £25 plus utility meter card thereafter (if 

benefit payments are still delayed).

Clothing

 Care leavers living in supported lodgings or semi-independent accommodation will 

receive a clothing allowance of £100 per annum.

 Emergency clothing to the value of £50 will be given to Unaccompanied Asylum 

Seeking Children if they arrive in the UK with limited clothing. This will be based on 

an assessment of their needs.

 If a care leaver has no suitable clothes, a discretionary £50 one off allowance may be 

provided to purchase clothing on a needs basis. 

Birthday Allowances:
17th birthday £30

18th birthday £60

19th birthday £30

20th birthday £30

21st birthday £75

Setting up home allowance:
A setting up home allowance of up to £2000 (or £2200 for single parents)

The following conditions apply:

 The allowance should only be used to purchase household items.

Page 53



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

 Up to £500 can be accessed in advance to buy essential items (as defined by the 

Care Leaver Service).

 At least £50 should be spent on health and safety items such as smoke alarms.

 Some of the money should be used to purchase a TV licence and home contents 

insurance.

Young Parents:

 Mothers aged 16 or 17; living in semi-independent accommodation will receive £150 

one-off payment from the Care Leaver Service once they have passed 20 weeks of 

the pregnancy. 

 Maternity Grant rate of £500 

Care leavers who are detained

 Pocket money is payable at a rate of £7 a week or a lower amount if this exceeds the 

rules of the youth detention institution. 

Care leavers entering higher education payments: 

 A £1000 yearly grant. The £3000 paid for the duration of the 3 year degree course is 

inclusive of the £2000 government bursary. 

Page 54



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

Appendix 4

Service Procedures
A. Child in Care with a Disability – Eligible for Adult Service Support at 18

Refer to: Kent Transition Protocols - Supporting Disabled Young People from Adolescence 

to Adulthood. Handbook for Professionals 2008

If after the Y11 Review the DCS case manager thinks that the 16 year old child may meet 

the eligibility criteria for Kent Adult Social Service (KASS) support when they are 18, they will 

notify the KASS service manager by completing a Y11 Transition Notification Form 

(Appendix 1b, Kent Transition Protocol 2008).This will be signed off by the Team Manager or 

Service Manager.

They will record this on the electronic case management information system (Liberi).

KASS will be able to assess information on those CWD in care potentially eligible for future 

KASS support and give them early consideration. 

The following year the DCS case manager will invite a KASS representative to the 17 year 

old child’s Y12 Transition Review and receive information on the child’s progress, ongoing 

development needs and Pathway Plan.

After the Y12 Transition Review meeting the DCS case manager will follow this up by 

making a formal referral for KASS support for the child as soon as practicable after his/her 

17th birthday via the County Duty Service. They will record this on the electronic case 

management information system (Liberi).

KASS will undertake an assessment of the 17 year olds needs and if eligible for KASS 

support when they attain adult status at 18, a KASS care manager will be allocated by the 

time they are 17 years and 6 months old to support the transfer in collaboration with the DCS 

case manager.

The child’s Transition Plan and Pathway Plan should be amended accordingly.

On the care leaver’s 18th birthday they become an adult and if eligible for adult service 

support, case responsibility transfers to the KASS Case Manager who leads the Y13 

Transition Plan Review. The care leaver also becomes a care leaver on his/her 18th birthday.

The KASS is responsible for coordinating actions agreed to implement the eligible care 

leaver’s Community Care Plan and Pathway Plan. The KASS is responsible for 

implementing the care leaver’s Leaving Care entitlements in the 18-25 phase. These are 

detailed in a corresponding KASS protocol for Care Leavers with a Disability eligible for adult 

service support.

Page 55



Leaving Care Policy – Final Draft

B. Child in Care with Disability – Not Eligible for Adult Service Support at 18
If after the Y11 Review the DCS case manager thinks that the 16 year old child is unlikely to 

meet the eligibility criteria for (KASS) support when they are 18, they will notify the Kent 18+ 

Care Leaver Service Manager by completing a Y11 Transition Notification Form. This will be 

signed off by the Team Manager or Service Manager. They will record this on the electronic 

case management information system (Liberi).  The Kent 18+ Care Leaver Service will give 

early consideration to the individual’s future support needs. 

The following year the DCS case manager will invite a Kent 18+ Care Leaver Service 

representative to the 17 year old child’s Y12 Transition Review and receive information on 

the child’s progress, ongoing development needs and Pathway Plan.  The Kent 18+ Care 

Leaver Service will allocate a case manager to each case before the child is 17 years and 6 

months old to support the transfer in collaboration with the DCS case manager. The child’s 

Transition Plan and Pathway Plan should be amended accordingly by the DCS case 

manager and recorded by them on the electronic case management information system 

(Liberi).

On the care leaver’s 18th birthday they become an adult and if not eligible for (KASS) 

support, the case responsibility transfers to the Kent 18+ Care Leaver Service who leads the 

Y13 Transition Plan Review. The Kent 18+ Care Leaver Service is responsible for 

coordinating actions agreed to implement the care leaver’s Pathway Plan and delivering the 

care leaver’s Leaving Care entitlements in the 18-25 phase. The Kent 18+ Care Leaver 

Service may seek specialist advice from Children’s and Adult’s Disability Services to help 

them support care leavers in the 18-25 phase.

Page 56



From Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director for Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel

Date: 13 February 2015

Subject: LEADING IMPROVEMENTS FOR LOOKED AFTER 
CHILDREN (LILAC) ASSESSMENT 

Classification: Unrestricted

Past Pathway: None

Future Pathway: None

Electoral Division: All

Summary: KCC commissioned National Voice to undertake an independent 
assessment to look at the quality of participation and 
engagement with Kent’s children in care and care leavers.  The 
assessment is known as LILAC and stands for Leading 
Improvements for Looked after Children.

The paper outlines the results of the assessment, its key 
findings and makes recommendations for a future work plan in 
relation to the standards not adjudged to have been achieved.

RecommendationsCorporate Parenting Panel is asked to:

1. Note the assessment and its findings. 
2. Agree the need for work streams to continue to address 

the standards not yet achieved.
3. Agree that National Voice should be invited back in June 

to undertake a revised assessment on the areas requiring 
development.

 1. Introduction

1.1 The LILAC Assessment has been developed by a National Voice as a way of  
involving young people with experience of the care system in carrying out an 
assessment of how well services delivered by the local authority are enabling 
children in care and care leavers to participate; both at an individual level, and 
in the development of policies and services that support them.  

1.2 The assessment took place over a three day period between 29.09.14 –   
1.10.14. The assessment focused on shared values, style of leadership, 

Page 57

Agenda Item B2



structures, staff, recruitment and selection, care planning and review, 
complaints and advocacy. 

1.3 An assessment outcome is given against each standard as to whether it has 
been achieved. A LILAC flower is awarded for each standard met up to the 
maximum of seven. A certificate is then awarded which indicates the level of 
compliance revealed by the assessment. The LILAC kite mark is valid for 2 
years.

2. Key Details

2.1 The final report has been received (appendix 1) which shows Kent has  
achieved 4 out of 7 standards. 

2.2 The findings were as follows:

Standard 1 Shared Values – ACHIEVED
Standard 2 Style of Leadership - NOT ACHIEVED
Standard 3 Structures - NOT ACHIEVED
Standard 4 Staff - NOT ACHIEVED
Standard 5 Recruitment & Selection – ACHIEVED
Standard 6 Care Planning & Review – ACHIEVED
Standard 7 Complaints & Advocacy – ACHIEVED

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The assessment cost was £3,845 plus expenses.

4. NEXT STEPS

4.1 The LILAC assessment identifies areas of good practice and also outlines 
LILAC good practice proposals to address the standards not yet achieved.  
This has led to the development of an action plan which is currently being 
taken forward within Specialist Children’s Services. 

4.2 There is a window of six months from receipt of the final report within which 
the Council can invite National Voice to return to carry out a re assessment 
against any standards not achieved. It is recommended that this opportunity is 
taken up by the Council.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:
1. Note the assessment and its findings. 
2. Agree the need for work streams to continue to address the standards 

not yet achieved.
3. Agree that National Voice should be invited back in June to undertake 

a revised assessment on the areas requiring development.

Author: Sarah Skinner, Business Service Manager, Virtual School Kent
Background Documents: none

Page 58



FINAL REPORT FOR
KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
2014Page 59



Page 60



Contents

IntroductIon 1

the Full FIndIngs 3

standard 1: shared Values 3

standard 2: style oF leadershIp 5

standard 3: structures 7

standard 4: staFF 9

standard 5: recruItment & selectIon 11

standard 6: care plannIng & reVIew 13

standard 7: complaInts & adVocacy 15

Page 61



Page 62



IntroductIon
1

IntroductIon

An assessment of Kent County Council took place in late September and early October 
2014; against the 7 LILAC Standards which denote a quality participation service, see 
below for full details. We are pleased to announce that Kent County Council has been 

judged by care-experienced young people to have fully achieved four of the seven LILAC 
standards. Well done Kent.

About LILAc

Lilac is a project run by A National Voice. The key purpose of LILAC is to draw upon the experiences 
and expertise of care–experienced young people to improve the policy and practice of agencies 
in how they involve and consult with children in care and care leavers. It does this by using a 
framework of quality standards for involvement which has been developed by care–experienced 
young people. Young people from care are trained to assess the performance of agencies against 
the LILAC standards. LILAC involves care–experienced young people:

Carrying out assessments of how well services involve and consult with children and  ²

young people
Delivering training on participation and the LILAC standards ²

The LILAC standards are based on the well–known Hear By Right approach to participation but they 
have been developed to closely reflect the nature of the care system. They have been developed by 
care–experienced young people to reflect what is important to them. Each standard is backed by a 
number of criteria to ensure a robust methodology that focuses on quality over processes.

the teAm

Two trained Assessors took part in this Assessment: Ahmed and Nicola. These young people have 
many years combined Care experience and have lived in a wide range of placements including 
foster care, residential care, kinship placements, supported lodgings and independence. They have 
been trained by LILAC to deliver training and to carry out assessments. The 3-day accredited training 
focused on building skills such as presentation skills, team work, listening and communication skills, 
carrying out interviews, delivering training, and being professional and non–discriminatory.

LILAC Assessors act as outstanding role–models for other young people in care, having achieved 
a variety of accomplishments including owning their own home, being married, having children, 
being in paid employment, doing an apprenticeship and succeeding in both further and higher 

Page 63



LILAc report for Kent county councIL powered by ANV
2

education. Their main motivation behind being involved in the project is to improve the lives of 
looked–after children and give children and young people in care a voice.

the Assessment

This Assessment is based on:

Policies and procedures submitted by Kent County Council. 

Three days spent ‘on-site’ conducting both group and individual interviews with 28 children and 
young people, 10 foster carers and 31 members of children’s social care staff.

Kent County Council reported having 1263 children and young people in placement at the time 
of the assessment over 10 years old. In this case, the return rate for pre-assessment data of 20% 
(252) was not quite achieved based on 176 completed questionnaires having been received from 
children and young people over 10 years old across the county. However, LILAC understands that 
young people were frustrated by being asked to fill in questionnaires regularly and Kent County 
Council has acted upon their request.

Furthermore, 81 responses to questionnaires were received from foster carers and 164 
questionnaires received from social care staff.

Messages from LILAC Assessors

“It was evident that some really good participation work was going on”.

 “I really enjoyed meeting with the CICC, thought they were fantastic and well supported”.

“There is definitely good work and I believe Kent are heading in the right direction, there are 
improvements to be made but it is a good starting point to have an independent body come 
and assess to be able to assist Kent in making improvements”.

Page 64



the fuLL fIndIngs: shAred VALues
3

The Local Authority or agency adopts shared values that enable children and young people 
to be actively involved in services that directly affect them, including honesty about what 
can and cannot be changed and any limitations due to the organisation’s responsibilities.

How Kent County Council achieved the LILAC Standard

ACHIeved

the Full FIndIngs

Shared ValueSStandard 1: 

Kent County Council has developed a broad range of policies and procedures to help implement 
effective participation. 

Kent County Council have developed ‘Kent’s Looked-after Children Strategy 2011-2014’ which is a 
means to bring together the contributions by Kent County Council and its partner agencies; each of 
which has a vital role in the delivery of corporate parenting for looked after children and care leavers. 
Most importantly this strategy highlights the importance of listening to children and young people, 
involving them in decision making, and understanding how the decisions that are made for them 
affect them personally. 

There is also a colourful Pledge entitled ‘The Kent Pledge’ which has been developed with the help 
of looked after children. The pledge sets out in clear and concise terms what services and support 
looked after children can expect from Kent County Council. Its message is “The Kent Pledge is the 
promise that Kent County Council make to you whilst you are in care. It is there to help make sure 
that your time in care is the best it can possibly be, to support you to do your best and to have 
success in your life”. 

There is also a ‘Kent Care Leavers Charter’ which explains the rights, entitlements and promises that a 
care leaver is expected to receive from Kent County Council, the leaflet is well designed, informative 
in a young person friendly manner and is free from jargon.

There is also a ‘OCYPC (Our Children & Young People’s Council), speak up be heard’ which stands for 
leaflet which is currently in draft format but highlights the pledge in a more child friendly version 
which is filled up with lots of important information for children and young people in care and how 
they can join up with the children in care council known as OCYPC.

Page 65



powered by ANVLILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: styLe of LeAdershIp
4

There is also a website ‘Kent Cares Town’, which LILAC assessors thought was fantastic and 
quite creative, the website was launched in 2012 and provides children in care and care leavers 
an interactive way to access useful information about services they receive, events, news and 
opportunities. A link of the website is available for young people to use where they require and are 
also able to contribute to the Kent Cares Town section on the website.

The implementation of these policies and procedures was evident in our on-site assessment. For 
example, during a group interview with the Children in Care Council, one young person stated “we 
do get consulted a lot and I think it is a good thing because we can make a difference”; another 
young person stated that “The CICC is great, I enjoy attending the groups and it’s fun and also our 
voices are taken seriously”.

On a scale of 1-10, with 1 being ‘not at all’ and 10 ‘very involved’, we asked young people in the 
questionnaires sent out if they had a say in their life. Over 65% of the responses scored 7 or more.

LILAC Good Practice Proposals:

Young person-friendly posters of Kent’s Children’s Services’ Mission Statement and Pledge should be 
displayed in all centres, quoting UNCRC Article 12.

LILAC assessors felt both children’s guides for fostered children was too informative and needed to 
be more child friendly, a revamp is needed with input from children and young people in designing 
and with the text. Furthermore, social workers should explain the children’s guide at regular intervals 
with the children and young people.

Page 66



Not ACHIeved

LILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: styLe of LeAdershIp
5

Senior managers and elected members adopt a style of leadership that champions and 
promotes the involvement of children and young people at all levels of the local authority 
or agency. They demonstrate the need to work in partnership with children and young 
people.

What LILAC Found

Style of leaderShipStandard 2: 

Unfortunately, Assessors felt that this Standard was not being met at the time of our Assessment, 
although there were some positive findings.

The Directors, Lead Member and Senior Management told us that they join in at special events for 
young people. LILAC assessors felt during the interviews with the management team that they 
demonstrated a real passion in working with looked after children. They were also honest and 
described how Kent County Council was far from perfect and that they had hoped to bring a new 
sense of enthusiasm and break down barriers and bureaucracy between young people and staff. 

There are a few active CICC groups called ‘OCYPC stand up, be heard’ which is devised of children 
and young people from the ages from 8 years old up to care leavers which meets on a regular basis. 
The care leavers are also apprentices employed by Kent County Council.

There is representation from children in care and care leavers at the corporate parenting panel which 
meets bi-monthly and is also attended by a care leaver apprentice within ‘Virtual Schools Kent’ to 
give the views of children and young people in care and care leavers.

There is a policy where young people have the opportunity to meet with their corporate parents 
and other lead members four times a year. Furthermore, there is another policy which states young 
people in care and care leavers have the opportunity to meet with the Director of SCS and Lead 
Member of SCS every three months.

Paul Carter, the Leader of the Council met with the care leaver apprentice as well as other care 
leavers and some children who sit on the OCYPC group in June 2014 to discuss the DVD: Never Stop 
Listening and other issues they wanted to raise. This preceded the presentation at the full council 
meeting with Members in July. Furthermore, they also met with Ann Allan; Chair of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel and Peter Oakford, Lead Member, Specialist Children’s Services and discussed their 
thoughts and feelings on the experiences of children in care.

Page 67



powered by ANVLILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: structures
6

In the live interviews it was clear that LILAC could see there were positive changes being made 
within the authority and there was a real emphasis on outcomes and about listening to and 
involving young people in decisions that affect their lives.

Below are the reasons why Kent County Council did not achieve this standard

When interviewing children and young people it was evident that only a few members of the OCYPC 
group knew the senior management and furthermore only 15% of questionnaire respondents knew 
the Directors or Elected Member. In addition, only 20% of those who did know the Director and 
senior managers stated they would feel able to talk to them.

In staff questionnaire responses only 31% felt that senior management figures within Kent County 
Council were approachable for children and young people. 

LILAC Recommendations:

There should be a variety of children and young people sitting on the Corporate Parenting Board at 
least part of the meeting e.g. last or first 30 minutes to give updates and views about the care system 
and if any changes needs to be done.

Send a postcard to all children and young people showing the management structure of Kent 
County Council, with photos of the Director, Elected Member and other relevant senior managers. 
This should be repeated annually.

Amend the Foster Care guide to include photos and details of managers 

Give young people more influence in setting the agenda in Kent County Council by allowing them 
to talk to senior managers in a structured way (although this is mentioned in the policy, it is not 
promoted well), ensuring participation is bottom-up as well as top-down.

Ensure that children and young people are approached to participate using a range of methods such 
as text message. This would go some way to ensuring the maximum audience is reached.

Page 68



Not ACHIeved

LILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: structures
7

Structures are in place to ensure that children and young people are involved in the 
planning and evaluation of services and that these structures are flexible. They do not rely 
on the involvement of a small articulate group of children and young people, but take into 
account different abilities, experiences and skills.

What LILAC Found

StructureSStandard 3: 

Unfortunately, Assessors felt that this Standard was not being met at the time of our Assessment, 
although there were some positive findings.

Kent County Council have a CICC called the ‘OCYPC stand up, be heard’ group which is for younger 
children and older children. The ‘OCYPC’ group has been in existence for several years and their 
views are fed back onto the Corporate Parenting Board.

There is a Catch22 16 plus service to provide ongoing advice and support for children aged 16 and 
over. The majority of the older children knew how to get involved and participate in activities if they 
wanted to and how they can have their voice heard.

There are information leaflets which are currently in draft and will be distributed to all children and 
young people that are looked after providing information about the OCYPC group and information 
for care leavers.

Kent County Council publish two quarterly newsletters for children in care, one aimed at the junior 
group and one aimed at secondary school age children.  These can be accessed via the Kent Cares 
Town website: at: http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/our-news. The children were involved in the 
design of this website. The newsletters are a source of information for children in care, and they are 
sent to social workers and foster carers via e-mail for children in their care to view and download 
as well as appearing on the Kent Cares Town website. The Care Leaver apprentices in VSK are 
responsible for producing the newsletters with support from staff. This includes the designing of the 
layout, colours, text, writing some of the articles and incorporating pictures, poetry, art work that 
Kent County Council children in care produce during the participation activity days. 

Below are the reasons why Kent County Council did not achieve this standard:

In the questionnaire responses asking young people if anyone has told them about the children’s 
rights or participation service in your authority, only 38% said yes. Furthermore, 14% were not sure.

Page 69



powered by ANVLILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: stAff
8

Moreover, only 39% of questionnaire responses from young people indicated that they had been 
given information on how they can give views on changes needed in the children’s service.

In addition to this, Foster Carers told us that the information about the opportunities for children 
and young people did not always get passed on and many were unaware of opportunities available 
to them. Foster carers told LILAC assessors that there is a real lack of information and many of the 
opportunities for participation for their children and young people had not filtered through. They 
felt that things seem to get missed as “Children haven’t been given a welcome pack when coming 
into care”. Another Foster Carer stated “Young people don’t get any information from children in care 
council, or information on how they can be involved.” Furthermore in the questionnaire responses 
only 50% of foster carers said they knew about the children’s rights and participation service.

LILAC Recommendations:

Improve communication across the structures to ensure that young people are heard and know how 
to be involved in shaping or improving services over and above the opportunities to be a member of 
the OCYPC.

Deliver training for staff and foster carers on the importance of participation for all LAC to ensure 
that the new participation policy is implemented. This could be devised in-house, or is available from 
national charities such as ANV or Participation Works.

As time goes on, involve a wider range of children and young people in the development of the 
Children in Care Councils.

Produce a training policy stating what young people can expect from their involvement.

Employ a wider range of methods to involve young people by encouraging young people on the 
Children in Care Councils to take a lead in on-going service evaluation; for example, by reviewing the 
top 10 concerns for young people and the respective actions taken.

Establish on-going, clear and consistent feedback channels between children and young people and 
senior management on a formal basis, for example as part of a newsletter sent to all children and 
young people.

Page 70



Not ACHIeved

LILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: stAff
9

Staff are expected to support and contribute to practice and policy on the active 
involvement of children and young people in services that affect them.

What LILAC Found

StaffStandard 4: 

Unfortunately, Assessors felt that this Standard was not being met at the time of our Assessment, 
although there were some positive findings.

The assessors strongly felt that the staff team were passionate about improving participation 
through LILAC. The response rate from the staff team was high, which shows that Kent County 
Council communicated the LILAC message well, winning hearts and minds. 

There is a DVD which was created by the Children in Care Council called ‘Care to Listen’ which was 
designed and produced by some of Kent’s looked-after children and care leavers to describe from 
their own point of view of what it is liked to be looked after. We have seen some evidence that the 
DVD is now used in some part of training for social care staff and other staff members from the 
education department.

There is a policy which states ‘young people in care and care leavers are invited to participate in 
helping to train social workers and managers. The training aims to improve active listening by key 
professionals with the children and young people they work with and in doing so encourage greater 
involvement from children and young people in decisions made about their care. Young people also 
get involved in delivering presentations to professionals as part of other events that come up for 
example social work training, graduate events and conferences such as the ‘Kent Safeguarding Board 
Conferences’.

In Kent’s ‘Looked-after Children Strategy 2011-2014’ and in Kent’s ‘Pledge’ there is a clear direction on 
offering apprenticeship opportunities for looked after children and care leavers. This was evident in 
our visit, we met with a few of the apprentices and LILAC was really impressed by how Kent County 
Council invests in its care leavers by offering various apprenticeships.

Furthermore, in the staff questionnaires over 60% knew of young people being offered work 
opportunities such as apprenticeships.

In the questionnaire responses from foster carers over 70% had received training about involving 
and listening to children and young people in care, however, young people were not part of the 
delivery of this training.

Page 71



powered by ANVLILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: recruItment & seLectIon
10

Below are the reasons why Kent County Council did not achieve this standard:

In the staff questionnaires only 48% of staff returning questionnaires said that they had received 
participation training and furthermore over 90% said that no young person/care experienced young 
person was part of the delivery of the training.

77% of staff returning questionnaires said that no young people were involved in their induction. 
This was also evident in our live interview with staff who were recently employed stating that their 
induction did not involve any young people.

60% of staff returning questionnaires said their induction did not include anything about the 
participation service or participation in general. Again, this was also evident in our live interviews 
with staff members who were recently recruited.

Over 65% of staff said that young people were not part of their appraisals.

Only 60% of foster carers said young people were part of their annual appraisals/reviews.

LILAC Recommendations:

Explicitly set out young people’s involvement in staff induction and on-going appraisal in the 
participation and induction policies.

Include the active participation of young people in all child care role descriptions.

Provide training for staff and foster carers on participation, delivered wholly or in part by care 
experienced young people. Make a regular programme of training available to all staff and foster 
carers. It’s also a good idea to offer ‘refresher’ training to keep everybody up to speed.

Encourage young people to become co-trainers in programmes like Total Respect, or to become 
LILAC assessors and trainers.

Make more use of training resources led by young people, such as DVDs made by young people and 
create formal training packs.

Page 72



ACHIeved

LILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: recruItment & seLectIon
11

Children and young people should be involved in the recruitment and selection of all staff 
and carers who will work with them or be responsible for them.

How Kent County Council achieved the LILAC Standard

recruitment & SelectionStandard 5: 

Kent County Council has developed a policy for involving children and young people in the 
recruitment and selection process for social workers and managers. ‘Young people in care and 
care leavers are invited to help recruit all new permanent social workers and senior managers in 
Kent Specialists Services. Young people receive vouchers for their involvement. The young people 
are involved in writing the interview questions and they form their own interview panel. They use 
competency based scoring to make recommendations to hiring managers about a candidate’s 
suitability. The young people’s interview panels are well embedded within the recruitment process 
of children’s social care staff.’

There was evidence from our interviews with new members of staff that they were interviewed by 
care experienced young people. Again this was the same with senior management who were in post 
permanently.

There are two care experienced persons on the fostering panel. 

When interviewing Foster Carers the majority confirmed that a care experienced person was part of 
the recruitment process and they thought this was an excellent process.

LILAC Good Practice Proposals:

Implement a peer mentoring structure to involve and train young people in recruitment and 
selection and ensure a broad range of young people are involved.

Page 73



powered by ANVLILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: cAre pLAnnIng & reVIew
12

Page 74



ACHIeved

LILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: cAre pLAnnIng & reVIew
13

Children and young people should feel involved in the decision making that affects their 
lives and all decisions about them should be fully explained. All decision making, planning 
and review processes should be easily understood.

How Kent County Council achieved the LILAC Standard

care planning & reViewStandard 6: 

The young people we spoke to during the focus groups were well informed about their care plans 
and review meetings, reporting that they get a say in decisions that are made. Young people who 
filled out questionnaires also felt that they generally had a say in their lives and attend their reviews.

The vast majority of children and young people who answered the questionnaire felt that they knew 
why they were in Care (88%).

Questionnaire responses by children and young people also showed that 80% knew what their care 
plan was, 70% said they had helped to write/agree it, and 71% said that they felt it reflected their 
wishes and feelings. This was evident in our live interviews with children and young people. In our 
interviews with staff this area was very much emphasised and embedded in all interventions with 
looked-after children.

60% of children and young people said that they had a choice of which placements they wanted to 
be in. Furthermore, 57% of foster carers felt that the children and young people had been given a say 
in their placements. 

71% of children and young people also stated that they had a choice in which school they wanted to 
be in.

There are various booklets for children and young people to use to prepare for their reviews, LILAC 
assessors found them to be very useful and child friendly. There are also leaflets and information 
available to all children about reviews and the importance of getting their views across.

82% of questionnaire responses from children and young people stated that they usually attend 
their reviews. This was also evident in our live interviews with the Children in Care Council members 
and foster carers.

75% of children and young people knew who their IRO was. The IROs also felt that most young 
people attend reviews and their views are sought beforehand to inform the process. Methods of 

Page 75



powered by ANVLILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: compLAInts & AdVocAcy
14

being creative about communication were also discussed, for example meeting the needs of young 
people with communication and learning difficulties.

60% of questionnaire responses from children and young people stated that they get a choice of 
how their review is run e.g. where it takes place and who attends.

Over 80% of young people answering questionnaires said they are listened to in their reviews which 
LILAC were really pleased with.

70% of staff questionnaire responses felt that the local authority allows children and young people 
to express their wishes and feelings in their reviews. A further 55% of staff questionnaire responses 
stated that children and young people get involved in organising their reviews.

LILAC Good Practice Proposals:

Consideration should be given to findings ways for all children and young people, including children 
with disabilities to be able to fully participate in their reviews. Voice’s Blueprint Project, ‘It’s my review’, 
offers advice and training and can be found at www.voiceyp.org.

Consider engaging a care experienced Peer Volunteer Mentor in Kent County Council to help 
children and young people understand why they are in care and the importance of being involved in 
plans affecting their lives and their future.

Page 76



ACHIeved

LILAc report for Kent county councIL  the fuLL fIndIngs: compLAInts & AdVocAcy
15

Children and young people should know what to do if they are not happy with the way 
they are being treated and feel that their complaint will be listened to and treated seriously. 
Children and young people should have access to an advocate if they wish and the 
Authority or agency should promote the advocacy service. They should receive feedback 
on the process and outcome of their complaint and support in coming to terms with the 
decision.

How Kent County Council achieved the LILAC Standard

complaintS & adVocacyStandard 7: 

Complaints

Kent County Council has a complaints procedure in place which complies with all statutory 
regulations. 

Children and young people and staff across the service were clear that the complaints process is 
widely recognised and promoted. Children and young people know how to complain and there is a 
culture of ‘putting the child first’ across the service. The service is very accessible in that complaints 
can be made in writing, by email or by text or phone.

In the children and young people questionnaires 70% said they had been told or seen information 
about how to make a complaint.

The majority of children and young people answering the questionnaire felt that it was safe to make 
a complaint without repercussions (70%).

All foster carers informed us that young people are told about the complaints process and are asked 
if they would like an advocate.

In our interviews with children and young people majority of the young people knew how to make 
a complaint and who to approach. 

Advocacy

Children and young people are informed about what an advocate does and are able to contact one 
easily. 

Page 77



LILAc report for Kent county councIL powered by ANV
16

Kent County Council does have an advocacy service; it is run by Coram Voice and is completely 
independent.

Foster Carers promote this service to all their children and it is mentioned in their review booklets

The service is well-promoted via various means, such as training for carers, events for children and 
young people, weekly visits to children’s homes, newsletters.

Social workers and IROs also pass on information about advocacy to children and young people; this 
was evident in our live interviews with staff and in the questionnaires, with 70% of staff stating that 
children and young people are given information about the advocacy service and how to contact 
them. Furthermore, 80% of staff questionnaire responses state they have given children and young 
people information about how to make complaints if they are unhappy.

Complaints made about foster carers can be made following the same process as making a 
complaint about any of the council’s services.

During our live interviews it was also evident that they knew how to make a complaint and who to 
go to.

In our live interviews with the Children in Care Council, all the members knew what an advocate was 
and knew how to make contact with them. 

However, 50% of children and young people who responded to the questionnaire stated that what 
an advocate does had been explained to them. Furthermore, 62% knew how to contact an advocate. 

LILAC Good Practice Proposals:

Allow the Children in Care Council to review the issues that are raised with the complaints and 
advocacy team and use this information to inform their work to have an influence on the actions 
taken.

Develop further ways of involving the children and young people in some form of campaign to raise 
awareness of this service in a variety of ways e.g. posters, postcards or flyers, or website. This would 
stimulate interest and explain the advocacy service better, perhaps raise the profile of advocates, the 
Independent Reviewing Officer and other relevant information.

Complaints and advocacy issues should be brought to team meetings so that problems or issues do 
not reoccur and so that no one misses out on valuable information.

Information on complaints and advocacy should be made available in languages that children 
and young people from minority ethnic backgrounds, and children with learning disabilities can 

Page 78



the fuLL fIndIngs: compLAInts & AdVocAcy
17

understand or have utilised on their behalf. 

A Peer Volunteer Mentoring project on advocacy would help children and young people to 
understand advocacy specifically and raise awareness generally.

Page 79



Page 80



Leading Improvements for  Looked After  Chi ldren

A National Voice (ANV) is a charity (No. 1120149) and is registered in England as a company 

limited by guarantee (No. 5760207). Registered Office: Central Hall Oldham St Manchester M1 1JQ

Tel: 0161 237 5577  Email: info@anationalvoice.org  Web: www.anationalvoice.org

thank you From lIlac and a natIonal VoIce

Everyone involved in the project would like to thank Kent County Council for 
commissioning our services. Thank you for making us feel so welcome and for supporting 
the project. Congratulations on meeting four of the seven LILAC standards. This is a 

fantastic achievement and we found that Kent County Council is trying hard to ensure that 
the children and young people it looks after are listened to and consulted with.

We have included some LILAC good practice proposals to help you to further improve the 
great work you are already doing, and recommendations for achieving standards 2, 3 and 
4 to enable you to become an outstanding service. We here at LILAC will be happy to offer 
future support in any way we can.

Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



From Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director for Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel

Date: 13 February 2015

Subject: UPDATE ON THE INTEGRATED CHILDREN IN CARE AND 
CARE LEAVERS SERVICE

Classification: Unrestricted

Past Pathway: None

Future Pathway: None

Electoral Division: All

Summary:  This report provides an update on progress made since the 
Integration of the children in care and care leavers service.  

Recommendation: Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:
Note the content of this report.

__________________________________________________________________

1. Introduction

1.1 On 1 December 2014 the Service for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children (UASC) and the Catch 22 16+ Service became integrated into the 
existing Children in Care Service across the County. Each of the five area 
children in care services gained an additional team of workers, and the 
children and young people concerned were allocated to these new teams in 
accordance with their placement addresses in the 1st December.   

1.2 Catch 22 and the Asylum Service also delivered two separate Care Leavers     
Services to the indigenous and asylum seeking populations, which were also 
brought together under one line management structure on the 1st December 
2014. 

2. Timetable

2.1 The consultation process with all affected staff took place between the 14 July 
and the 13 August 2014. The consultation included the Catch 22 staff who 
were subject TUPE regulations. Catch 22 staff transferred to the Council on 
the 1 October 2014, two months prior to the full integration of the Service. 
Final agreed structures were ratified in September 2014.

Page 85

Agenda Item B3



2.2 All affected staff undertook a variety of training to familiarise them with the 
differing types of work they would encounter after integration. A training 
programme for 2015 has been developed to ensure all staff are equipped to 
meet the needs of the new cohort of children and young people they have 
become responsible for.

3. Integrated Children in Care Service

3.1  The integration of the old Catch 22 and UASC services has resulted in the 
creation of five new teams across the County. The service delivery for all 
Kent’s over 16 year old children in care and those who are unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children now sits with the Children in Care Service Manager 
under the auspices of the Assistant Area Directors. This will ensure that all 
children in care in Kent receive the same quality of service in accordance with 
their needs and not in accordance with their entry route into care. 

3.2 The reconfiguration of the service has already brought more rigour and 
attention to the quality of the work with this group of children in care since the 
1 December 2014. The Service is now in a position to offer a children first 
approach to care planning which was evident in the 0-16 children in Care 
Service prior to integration, but not as evident for older children or those in the 
UASC cohort. 

3.3 The service is now designed to be able to focus on the enablement of our 
young people as they move towards adulthood, including better oversight of 
access to educational opportunities. The role of VSK has also been extended 
to cover this older age group and those for whom English is not their primary 
language. 

3.4 The integration of the service has also enabled the Independent Reviewing 
Officer Service to gain full oversight of all children in care as one cohort.

4. Care Leavers Service

4.1 The new Care Leavers Service has brought together two separate services, 
Catch 22 and UASC previously overseeing the wellbeing and progression of 
care leavers into one County Service.  The Service is managed by a newly 
appointed Service Manager, with line management responsibility for two 
geographically based teams, the 16+ accommodation service and the 
Millbank Reception Centre. Each team is led by a social work team manager 
supported by a number of Senior Personal Advisers. 

4.2 Seven new Senior Personal Adviser posts have been created and recruited to 
to provide an enhanced service to care leavers with more complex needs. 
The Senior Personal Adviser will also provide supervision and professional 
guidance to the Personal Adviser’s supporting the majority of Care Leavers. 

4.3 The Care Leavers Service will focus on enablement and assisting care 
leavers to gain the life skills and opportunities to enhance their chances as 
adults. The management of the service under one management structure will 
assist in bringing clarity to the Local Authority’s duties under Child Care 
legation and Immigration legislation.  

Page 86



5. Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Services in Kent.

5.1 The second half of 2014 saw a significant increase in the number of arrivals of 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children requiring the assistance of the 
Council.  A total of 315 new referrals were received in 2014 from the 
Immigration and Border agency, with 162 of these arriving in the last four 
months of the year. This compares to a total of 93 new entrants during 2013, 
an increase of 242%. 

5.2 The predominance of young males in the presenting cohort continues, with 
97% of new entrants being male. Older young people are also becoming more 
frequent. Of the 162 arrivals in the last 4 months of 2014, 94 new entrants 
claimed to be 16 or 17 years old and further 40 claimed to be 15 years old. 
The impact of such a large cohort of young people being at the older age 
range cannot be underestimated, as they become care leavers in a much 
shorter time than the younger children, after which time the Council receives 
greatly reduced funding. 

5.3 The volatility in certain parts of the world has greatly contributed to the rise in 
the numbers of individuals seeking asylum in the UK. Unrest in the Middle 
East has significantly contributed to the rise in numbers, with 36 young people 
originating from Syria alone. Young people continue to arrive from 
Afghanistan, Iraq and Iran as well as Albania and Egypt. However, the largest 
and newest cohort of young people comes from sub-Saharan Africa with more 
than 50 Eritrean young people becoming accommodated by the Council 
during 2014. 

5.4 The council continues to negotiate with central government on support for this 
unpredictable demand that falls disproportionately on this authority.  The 
Gateway Grant previously provided by the Home Office in recognition of 
Kent’s special position in regards to the Channel Ports of entry was removed 
in April 2014 and replaced with an enhanced per capita head payment.  The 
funding level currently agreed is sufficient to meet the costs of looking after all 
the under 18 UASC children. This is a result of a combination of ongoing 
efficiency savings within the old UASC service and the integration of the 
service.  

6. Recommendations 

6.1  Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:
Note the content of this report 

7. Background Documents
None

Report author: 
Sarah Hammond, Assistant Area Director, Specialist Children’s Services, West Kent
03000 411488
Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A3 Minutes of the meeting held on 9 December 2014
	A4 Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 4 December 2015
	A7 Cabinet Member's Verbal Update
	B1 Care Leavers Support Policy
	B1 - App A - Draft Care Leavers Support Policy

	B2 Leading Improvements for Looked After Children (LILAC) Assessment
	B2 - Appendix 1 LILAC_Report_Kent_2014

	B3 Update on the Integrated Children in Care and Care Leavers Service

